# SEXUALITY, IDENTITY AND THE CLOTHED MALE BODY

### **SHAUN COLE**

University of the Arts London
PhD by Published Work
March 2014

#### **ABSTRACT**

'Sexuality, Identity and the Clothed Male Body' is a PhD by Published Work that draws together a collective body of work that deals specifically and significantly with the dressed male body. This thesis presents a case for the collection of publications included in the submission to be viewed as a coherent body of work which makes a contribution to knowledge in the fields of fashion studies and cultural studies, in which the works are situated. The body of work consists of two monographs - Don We Now Our Gay Apparel: Gay Men's Dress in the Twentieth Century (Berg, 2000), and The Story of Men's Underwear (Parkstone International Press, 2010) - and two chapters in edited books - 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag: Gay Men, Dress and Subcultural Identity' (2008) and 'Hair and Male (Homo)Sexuality: Up-Top and Down Below' (2008).

Through an examination of the major themes addressed throughout the submitted body of work – sexuality, identity, subcultural formation, men's dress and masculinities and clothes and the body - this thesis demonstrates that the published work contributes to knowledge through its two major foci. Firstly, the means by which gay men have utilised their dressed bodies as a situated and embodying practice to articulate identity, masculinity, and social and sexual interaction, and secondly an examination of men's underwear's specific function in the covering, exposing and representation of men's bodies. These were, until recently, relatively neglected areas of fashion studies and dress history, and by explicitly bringing together these areas to present a comprehensive investigation this thesis serves to provide a new contribution to knowledge in these areas. Taking an interdisciplinary approach, that is common in both fashion studies and cultural studies, the specific combination of research methods that is employed throughout the body of work, has provided a unifying element that further enhances this contribution to knowledge.

### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I would like to thank my supervisory team, Professor Helen Thomas and Doctor Roger Sabin for their time and generous advice and suggestions on both the content and structure of this thesis. I would also like express my appreciation to my research mentor at London College of Fashion, Pamela Church Gibson for her helpful contributions and copy editing skills. My thanks also go to the Graduate School at London College of Fashion for allowing me the time to undertake this PhD.

## **CONTENTS**

Curriculum Vitae	1
Introduction Outline of Chapters	8
Chapter 1. Summary and Context of Submitted Works	11
1.1. The Works Submitted	11
1.1.1. Don We Now Our Gay Apparel: Gay Men's Dress in the Twentieth Century, 2000	11
1.1.2. Butch Queens in Macho Drag: Gay Men, Dress and Subcultural Identity, 2008	16
1.1.3. Hair and Male (Homo)Sexuality: 'Up-Top and Down Below', 2008	19
1.1.4. The Story of Men's Underwear, 2010	20
1.2. The Interrelationship of the Submitted Works	25
1.3. The Standing of the Publishers	26
1.4. Conclusion	28
Chapter 2. Positioning of the Submitted Work in its Fields of Study	29
2.1. The Intersection of Cultural Studies and Fashion Studies	29
2.2. Disciplinarity and the Future of an Un- or Non Discipline	33
2.3. Cultural Studies	35
2.3.1. Power and Politics of Identity	35
2.3.2. Queer Studies and Theory	38
2.3.3. Masculinities	40
2.3.4. Representation 2.4. Fashion Studies	41 42
2.4. Fashion Studies 2.4.1. Dress History and Dress Studies	42 42
2.4.2. The Turn to Fashion Studies	44
2.5. Conclusion	46
Chapter 3. Critical Reflection on Methods of Research	47
3.1. Lived Experiences and Oral History Testimony	49
3.2. Analyses of Written Texts	52
3.3. Images and Visual Representation	54
3.4. Conclusion	56
Chapter 4. Reflection and Review of the Unifying Themes within the Submitted Works	57
4.1. Sexuality	57
4.2. Identities and Style-Fashion-Dress	59
4.3. Subcultures and Subcultural Formations	62
4.4. Men's Dress and Masculinities	67
4.5. Clothes and the Body	68
4.6 Conclusion	70
Chapter 5 Conclusion	72

Bibliography	79
Appendices	102
Appendix A. Citations in Other Works	102
Appendix B. Email from Valerie Steele	105

#### **CURRICULUM VITAE**

#### **Present Positions**

<u>Course Leader MA Fashion Curation</u>, London College of Fashion, University of the Arts London. August 2010 - Present

<u>Course Leader MA History and Culture of Fashion</u>, London College of Fashion, University of the Arts London. January 2010 - Present

#### **Employment History**

Research Fellow, Centre for Fashion, the Body and Material Cultures, University of the Arts London. 2008 - 2010

<u>Arts and Cultural Enterprise Manager</u>, Queen Mary, University of London. 2007 –2008

<u>Head of Contemporary Programmes</u>, Victoria & Albert Museum, London. 2006 <u>Curator, Contemporary Programmes</u>, Victoria & Albert Museum. 2002 - 2007 <u>Curator, Department of Prints, Drawings and Paintings</u>, Victoria & Albert Museum. 1990 - 2001

<u>Curatorial Assistant, National Art Library</u>, Victoria & Albert Museum. 1988 - 1990

#### **Education**

B.Lib.(Hons), Librarianship and History 2:ii, University College of Wales, Aberystwyth, 1985-1988

#### **Professional Roles and Memberships**

Exhibition Advisory Board Member, 'A Queer History of Fashion', Fashion Institute of Technology, New York. June 2012- present

Exhibition Advisory Board Member, 'Club to Catwalk: London Fashion in the 1980s', Victoria and Albert Museum, London. June 2010 - present

Trustee, The Costume Society, July 2010 - present

External Examiner, Cultural and Supporting Studies, Northbrook College,

Sussex (University of Brighton). April 2009 – present

English Heritage (North East) Arts Advisory Panel. 2006

#### **Other Positions**

Visiting Lecturer, Centre for Fashion Studies, University of Stockholm.

November 2008

<u>Visiting Lecturer</u>, Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology, Melbourne. August 2007

Visiting Lecturer, University of Technology, Sydney. August 2007

Associate Lecturer, London College of Fashion, University of the Arts London.

October 2006 - April 2007

<u>Associate Lecturer</u>, Central Saint Martins College of Art and Design, The London Insitute. 2002 – 2008

<u>Visiting lecturer</u>, Royal College of Art, 2004-5; Queen Mary, University of London 2006; London College of Communication, The London Institute, 2007;

Middlesex University, 2004 and Brighton University, 2005

Tutor for Arts Council England Inspire Fellowship programme. 2006

Judge for Transport for London 'Thin Cities' poster competition. 2006

<u>Judge</u> for Mencap Snap! Photographic competition. 2006

<u>Judge</u> for Digital Prints Awards. 2000 and 2001

#### **Books**

The Story of Men's Underwear, New York: Parkstone Press, International, 2010 Dialogue: Relationships in Graphic Design, London: Victoria and Albert Museum, 2005

Don We Now Our Gay Apparel: Gay Men's Dress in the Twentieth Century, London: Berg, 2000

#### **Forthcoming Edited Books**

Fashion Media: Past and Present, London: Bloomsbury (with Djurdja Bartlett and Agnès Rocamora), November 2013

#### **Contributions to Books**

New Styles, New Sounds. In S. Stanfill, ed., 80s Fashion: From Club to Catwalk, London: V&A Publishing, 2013

Queers and Mods: Social and Sartorial Interaction in London's Carnaby Street. In A. Reilly, P. Hunt-Hurst, K. A. Miller-Spillman, eds. *The Meanings of Dress* 3<sup>rd</sup> edition, New York: Fairchild, 2012

Black is the New Colour. In B. Whyman and R. Vaccaro, eds. *Tuxedo*, London: London College of Fashion, 2011

Fashion and Homosexuality. In V. Steele, ed., *Berg Companion to Fashion* Berg, 2010

Invisible Men? In L. Welters and A. Lillethun, eds. *The Fashion Reader*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Berg, 2010

Lesbian and Gay Dress. In L. Skov, ed., *Berg Encyclopedia of World Dress and Fashion: Volume 8 Western Europe*, Oxford: Berg, 2010

Hairy Situations? Gay Men, Sexual Attraction and Hair In S. Boccalatte and M. Jones, eds. *Trunk Volume One: Hair*, Boccalatte Pty Ltd, 2009

"Macho Man": Clones and the Development of a Masculine Stereotype. In V. Karaminas and P. McNeil, eds. *The Men's Fashion Reader*, Oxford: Berg, 2009 Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality: 'Up-Top and Down Below'. In G. Biddle-Perry and S. Cheang, eds. *Hair: Styling Culture and Fashion*, Oxford: Berg, 2009 Butch Queens in Macho Drag: Gay Men, Dress and Subcultural Identity. In A.

Reilly and S. Cosbey, eds. *Men's Fashion Reader*, New York: Fairchild, 2008 Invisible Men? In L. Welters and A. Lillethun, eds. *The Fashion Reader*, Oxford: Berg, 2007

Fashion and Homosexuality, and Jockey Shorts. In V. Steele, ed., *Encyclopedia of Clothing and Fashion*, New York: Charles Scribners' Sons, 2004

'Jimmy Somerville' in C. J. Summers, ed., *The Queer Encyclopedia of Music, Dance and Musical Theatre*, San Francisco: Cleis Press, 2004

John Minton, and Keith Vaughan. In C. J. Summers, ed., *The Queer Encyclopedia of the Visual Arts*, San Francisco: Cleis Press, 2004

Leigh Bowery. In J. Berk Jiminez, ed., *Dictionary of Artists Models*. London and Chicago: Fitzroy Dearbon, 2001

John Minton *Dressing Rooms at Whitehall*, Peter Howson *The Heroic Dosser* and Lee Wagstaff *Shroud*. In M. Timmers, ed., *Impressions of the 20<sup>th</sup> Century: Fine Art Prints from the V&A Collection*. London: V&A Publications, 2001
Invisible Men: Gay Men's Dress in Britain 1950-1970. In A. de la Haye and E. Wilson (eds.) *Defining Dress: Dress as Object, Meaning and Identity*, Manchester: Manchester University Press, 1999

Tom Dixon. In *British Design at Home*. Osaka and London: NHK Kinki Media Plan and Victoria and Albert Museum, 1994

#### **Forthcoming Contributions to Books**

Les Nouveaux Slips et la Notion de Virilité. In D. Bruna. ed., *La Mécanique des Dessous*. Paris: Les Arts Decoratifs, June 2013

Queerly Visible: Gay Men's Dress and Style 1960-2012. In V. Steele, ed., *A Queer History of Fashion: From the Closet to the Catwalk*, New Haven, Conn. and New York: Yale University Press with Fashion Institute of Technology New York, September 2013

Men's Underwear Advertising. In D. Bartlett, S. Cole and A. Rocamora, eds. *Fashion Media: Past and Present*. London: Bloomsbury, November 2013

#### **Peer Reviewed Journal Articles**

Television's Fashion Gay Teens: Justin Suarez and Kurt Hummel. *Film, Fashion and Consumption* Vol.1, Issue 2, 2012, pp159-164

Considerations on a Gentleman's Posterior *Fashion Theory* Body Special Themed Edition, Vol. 16, Issue 1, March 2012, pp211-234

"Macho Man": Clones and the Development of a Masculine Stereotype in *Fashion Theory*, Volume 4, Issue 2, 2000, pp125-155

#### **Journal Articles**

The Fashion History Reader, ed. by Giorgio Riello and Peter McNeil Book Review. *Costume*, Vol.46, No 2, June 2012

"Macho Man": Clones and the Development of a Masculine Stereotype. Russian *Fashion Theory*, no.10, 2008-9

Gay New York: Gender, Urban Culture and the Making of the Gay World, 1890-1940 by George Chauncey. Book review. *Oral History*, Vol. 25, No.2, Autumn 1997

Corsair Slacks and Bondi Bathers: Vince Man's Shop and the Beginnings of Carnaby Street Fashion. *Things* 6, summer 1997

#### **Other Publications**

'Men's Bottoms' Essay for www.SHOWstudio.com 2012

'Gay Branding, Interview with Shaun Cole' in Joe Hancock *Brand/Story: Ralph, Vera, Johnny, Billy and Other Adventures in Fashion Branding,* Fairchild Books 2009

'Plain, Uninteresting and Out of Sight? Men's underwear' Essay for www.SHOWstudio.com 2007

'Fashion' (2500 word entry for) www.glbtq.com. Online encyclopaedia of gay lesbian bisexual and transgender culture. 2002

'Cristobal Balenciaga', 'Leigh Bowery', 'Christain Dior', 'Dolce & Gabbana', 'Tom Ford', 'John Galliano', 'Jean-Paul Gaultier', 'Halston', 'Norman Hartnell', 'Calvin Klein', 'John Minton', 'Alexander McQueen', 'Yves Saint Laurent', 'Jimmy Somerville', 'Gianni Versace' and 'Keith Vaughan' (700 word entries for) www.glbtq.com. Online encyclopaedia of gay lesbian bisexual and transgender culture. 2002

'Not Sure if You're a Boy or a Girl' Essay for www.SHOWstudio.com, 2002

#### **Exhibitions**

Volume 24 November 2006 - 28 January 2007

Black British Style 23 October 2004 - 16 January 2005

(Restaged at Manchester Art Gallery, Cartwright Hall Art Gallery, Bradford, Sunderland Museum and Winter Gardens and Birmingham Museum and Art Gallery)

Day of Record at Notting Hill Carnival 4 October - 2 November 2003

Zoomorphic 18 September 2003 - 4 January 2004 (assistant curator

Grooming and Identity 23 April - 20 May 2001

<u>Access All Areas: The RIBA's Collections at the V&A</u> 18 May - 24 September 2000

Exploded Dyson 23 June - 22 July 1999

<u>Dressing the Male: Men in Fashion Plates</u> 3 June 1999 – 3 January 2000

Fashion on Paper 5 March - 7 September 1997

Art or Litter 23 October 1997 - 22 March 1998

Graphic Responses to AIDS 12 June - 13 October 1996

All Victoria and Albert Museum unless otherwise stated

#### **Keynote Address**

'Queen Power: Visibility, Invisibility, Masculinity and Appropriation in Gay Men's Dress'. Designing Masculinities Conference, RMIT, Melbourne, 16 August 2007

#### **Conference Papers**

'The Next Best Thing to Naked: Male Bodies Underwear and Advertising'. La Mode: Objet d'etudes Symposium Series, Institute National de Histoire de l'Art (INHA), Paris 4 December 2012

'Ease in Action': Sportsmen and Underwear Advertising'. EUPOP Conference. London College of Fashion. 12 July2012

'Feels Better Because it Fits Better: Underwear Advertising and Masculinity'. Fashion Media: Yesterday, Today, Tomorrow Conference. London College of Fashion. 21 October 2010

'A Brief History of Men's Underwear'. Caring, Craving, Collecting Study Day, Victoria and Albert Museum. 27 March 2010

"The Next Best Thing to Naked": Men's underwear in photographs and advertisements'. Fashion and Materiality Symposium, Centre for Fashion Studies, Stockholm University. 3 October 2009

'Briefly: Men and Underwear, Photography and Advertising'. Picturing Men Study Day, Photographers Gallery, London. 25 July 2009

'The Sexual Orientation of Men's Underwear'. PCA/ACA Conference, San Francisco. 21 March 2008

'Leigh Bowery: A Life and Dress in Performance'. Dress and the Performing Arts, CHODA Conference, Theatre Museum, London. 7 July 2006

'In the Life: Black Lesbian and Gay Style'. Black Style Conference, Victoria and Albert Museum, London. 30 October 2004 (also Conference Organiser)
'Curating Black British Style'. Dress and Textile Specialists Conference,
Birmingham Museum and Art Gallery. 28 October 2004

'Men's Fashion in the 1960s'. Sixties study day, Victoria and Albert Museum. 23 January 2004

'Queerly Visible'. Fashion and Politics CHODA Conference, Courtauld Institute, London. 24 July 2001

'Dressed Like Queers: Gay Men's Dress and Carnaby Street'. The Permissive Society and Its Enemies, IBCH summer Conference, University College London. 9 July 2001

Dressing the Gay Body'. Heaven: A Symposium That Will Break Your Heart, Tate Gallery, Liverpool, 19 February 2000

'Mods and Queers: Social and Sartorial Interaction in 1960s London'. Home and Away Design History Society Conference, Nottingham Trent University, 12 September 1999 'Don We Now Our Gay Apparel'. Man of Fashion Study Day, Victoria and Albert Museum, London, 10 June 1999

'Evil Men: Dress and Gay Identity' Identities. Association of Art Historians Annual Conference, Exeter University, 5 April, 1998

'What a Queer Collection: Collecting Lesbian and Gay Material in Museums'. Streetstyle Symposium, Victoria and Albert Museum, London, 1995

#### INTRODUCTION

This critical review fulfils the regulations laid out by the University of the Arts London as part of the submission for the award of PhD by Published Work. It accompanies the four published works that form the body of this submission and serves to defend this work by introducing each piece of work, explaining their coherence as an original body of work, situating the work within the appropriate and relevant fields and existing literature in those fields, and establishing its originality and contribution to knowledge, through critical reflection and evidence based analysis.

Collectively this body of submitted work is situated within, and at the intersection of, the fields of cultural studies and fashion studies. Both areas are contested in terms of their disciplinarity and interdisciplinarity but have common areas of investigation and methodological approach that I will address in this review. The title of this collective body of work and critical review, 'Sexuality, Identity and the Clothed Male Body', serves to indicate and summarise the cohesion of the pieces of work when considered together, as well as indicate the areas in which it provides originality and new knowledge.

This collective body of work, which comprises two monographs and two chapters in edited books, has explored the dressed male body and the ways in which the sexual subject can be understood as historically and spatially contingent and formed in relation to terms of gender, class and ethnicity. This was until recently a relatively neglected area of fashion history and this body of work, as I shall demonstrate, serves to fill a 'gap' in that knowledge. The two main areas of focus of 'Sexuality, Identity and the Clothed Male Body' are firstly, the means with which gay men have negotiated their dressed bodies as a situated and embodying practice (Entwistle 2000) to articulate identity, social and sexual interaction, and, secondly, the ways in which men's underwear plays a specific function in the clothing and representation of the dressed male body.

This body of work was published over a period of ten years, 2000-2010, whilst I was employed at two different institutions, the Victoria and Albert Museum (V&A) and London College of Fashion, University of the Arts London (LCF), where the publication of my research was encouraged as part of my roles as curator at the V&A and as Research Fellow and later as a Course Director in the Graduate School at LCF. It should be noted that I worked on other publications and exhibition projects in the years between the publication of the first submitted work in 2000 and the next in 2008. Whilst these are not included in the submission of this body of work, and I will therefore not address them directly in this critical review, they do contribute to the 'story' of my research journey and the development of my approaches and perspectives.<sup>1</sup>

This critical review is comprised of five chapters that that will outline and demonstrate the ways in which the four submitted works form a cohesive body of work and how this sits within, alongside and contributes to scholarship and knowledge in the fields of cultural studies and fashion studies.

#### **Outline of Chapters**

Chapter One is a summary of each of the submitted works that also serves to explain the scope and context of each work. It will explain the interrelationship of the works, their coherence as a body of study and outline the grounds for showing how the individual publications and the whole body of work that they comprise have contributed to an overall body of knowledge and the development of research. Chapter One will also serve to indicate how, as one of the few scholars working on gay men's fashion and men's underwear, this body of work has been utilised and reproduced in edited works thus furthering its availability and reinforcing its continued relevance to the fields. Chapter Two

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Curriculum Vitae included at the beginning of this thesis lists those published works not included in this submission that were published between 2000 and 2012. The two main projects that I worked on between 2000 and 2008 were the *Black British Style* exhibition held at the Victoria and Albert Museum (V&A) in London in 2004 and the book *Dialogue: Relationships in Graphic Design* published in 2005 and their significance in the development of my approach to and understanding of the areas covered in this submitted body of work is noted where relevant in the main body of the thesis.

sets out the fields of cultural studies and fashion studies in which my work is positioned. It will discuss and provide evidence of the ways in which the works under consideration have made a contribution to these fields and elaborate on how this submitted body of work sits at the intersection of these two areas.

The methods that I have utilised in the research for this body of work will be outlined in Chapter Three, where the interdisciplinary nature of my approach will be addressed. It will highlight how the specific combination of research methods has enhanced my contribution of scholarship in the fields of study, as well as reflect upon the way in which my approach to research methods has changed and developed over the course of the period covered by the submitted works. Chapter Four will critically examine the five major themes that I have explored within the submitted body of work: sexuality; identity and dress; subcultural formations; men's dress and masculinity; clothes and the body. This chapter will address the ways in which I have adopted and articulated these themes within this body of work and how these works can be viewed in relation to other works on these subjects, in order to demonstrate the ways in which this body of work has furthered the development of these areas of study. The critical review will conclude by summing up the submission and indicating how this body of work will be built upon in the future.

# CHAPTER 1. SUMMARY AND CONTEXT OF SUBMITTED WORKS

#### 1.1. The Works Submitted

- 1. Don We Now Our Gay Apparel: Gay Men's Dress in the Twentieth Century, London: Berg, 2000.
- 2. Butch Queens in Macho Drag: Gay Men, Dress and Subcultural Identity. In A. Reilly and S. Cosbey, eds., *Men's Fashion Reader*, New York: Fairchild, 2008. pp.279-294
- 3. Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality: 'Up-Top and Down Below'. In G. Biddle-Perry and S. Cheang, eds., *Hair: Styling Culture and Fashion*, London: Berg, 2008. pp.81-95
- 4. *The Story of Men's Underwear*. New York: Parkstone Press International, 2010.

# 1.1.1. Don We Now Our Gay Apparel: Gay Men's Dress in the Twentieth Century

This book grew out of research that I initially undertook for the Victoria and Albert Museum's (V&A) exhibition 'Streetstyle from Sidewalk to Catwalk, 1940 to Tomorrow' (1994-95). This research ascertained that there was a paucity of writing that specifically addressed the way in which gay men used their dressed appearance as a signifier of identity. Up to the point of the publication of *Don We Now Our Gay Apparel* in 2000, the subject of gay male dress had been dealt with only incidentally in works on gay history and biography or discussed briefly as a negative statement or denials about, specifically heterosexual, male interest in fashion in books on men's fashion and dress history.

The primary aim of this book was to investigate and demonstrate the ways in which gay men had used clothing and their particular choices of certain

garments or combinations of garments to make a statement about their sexuality and negotiate their identities as gay men. A secondary aim was to examine the ways in which changing legal, moral and social conditions throughout the twentieth century impacted upon such decisions and practices. My objective was to draw upon a range of existing sources that mentioned gay male clothing choices, citing published novels, biographies, autobiographies, as well as unpublished manuscripts, newspapers and magazines held in various archives, to create the first critical and analytical narrative of the relationship gay men have had with clothing and appearance throughout the twentieth century. This material offered unique and separate insights and opinions on gay men's dress and style and it was key for me to bring these together to present a thorough picture of the subject. It was also my objective to record the reminiscences of older gay men in order to preserve the personal histories of gay men's engagement with their appearance, as well as note the influence that gay men's dress choices had on broader hegemonic men's fashions.

Don We Now, which was the nineteenth book in Berg's 'Body Dress Culture'
Series, consists of fourteen chapters that are organised in a thematic fashion
over 212 pages, with themes arranged chronologically as they are first
identified. Thematically Don We Now addresses class, masculinity, effeminacy,
signifiers and codes, cross dressing, visibility and invisibility, subcultures and
subcultural interaction, gay liberation, the body, swim- and underwear, public
presentation and nightclubs and private spaces. The book begins by
introducing the late nineteenth century identification of homosexuality as a
form of social and cultural identity by psychiatrists and sexologists such as Karl
Heinrich Ulrichs and Richard von Krafft-Ebing and the political and social
advocacy of 'masculine' same-sex love by philosopher Edward Carpenter and
social reformer Havelock Ellis.

The first chapter examines notions of social class, identifying how within the working classes an overtly effeminate appearance had a particular position in which a gay man could operate as a 'pseudo-woman'. This was contrasted with a more 'authentic' masculine appearance advocated by some middle and upper

class men. The concept of the binary polarisation between overt femininity and hyper-masculinity is one that pervades *Don We Now*, and subsequent work presented in this thesis, and I argue was an ever-present dilemma and cause for intense concern for gay men throughout the twentieth century. Just as mainstream, usually women's, fashion has swung between more obvious expressions of femininity and male dress-inspired styles, so 'trends' in gay style have oscillated between these two extremes but have also taken up various points in between. My examination of this 'swing' is highlighted by sociologist Tim Edwards (2011) in his assessment of the 'politics of dressing up'. The examination of overt femininity is continued in the second and third chapters of *Don We Now* where I specifically address the notions of effeminate stereotypes, cross dressing and drag as a gay-specific performance. In addressing the 1970s post gay liberation expressions of Radical Drag and Gender Fuck and other gender ambiguous style signifiers in the 1980s I invoke Judith Butler's theories around performativity (1990, 1993).

The role and presence of gay men in both the American and British punk subculture is one that I explore, not to argue that punk was a gay subculture but to investigate how gay men's presence within the subculture impacted upon its development and how transgressive subcultures offered a physical and ideological space for young gay men to experiment with their appearance and identity and the relationship between the two. This chapter and the one that examines early 1980s club culture drew heavily upon biographies with key players in these subcultures and oral history interviews conducted with gay men who frequented the London nightclub scene of the period between the late 1970s and the mid 1980s, so entering the realm of my methods which I will explore further in Chapter Three of this thesis.

Gay presence in the formation of subcultures and subcultural identity prior the 1970s is addressed in the book through the identification of the Molly subculture in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries (Bray 1982, Norton 1992) and established gay subcultural activity in major cities across Britain, North America and Europe in the early twentieth century. Through an

examination of the interaction between gay men and mods I identify the fluid boundaries of subcultural identities as well as the role of certain gay-owned and gay customer focussed shops in London and New York.

In the wake of gay liberation, gay male dress choice emphasised presentations of overt masculinity, most specifically and particularly through and in the gay clone. The chapter entitled 'Macho Man' examines how gay men knowingly subverted hegemonic men's styles to create a new gay visual identity; that whilst drawing upon elements of traditional working class male clothing, the clones subverted these to become signifiers of gay masculinity. Once again utilising first hand observations from participants in clone culture from oral history interviews, contemporary gay newspaper and magazine articles and gay novels, the impact of this hyper-masculine ideal is highlighted. That particular chapter has been significantly cited in the works of others demonstrating its standing in the field of fashion/dress and lesbian and gay studies (see Appendix A).<sup>2</sup> Karaminas and Geczy's proposed publication *Queer Style* identifies this chapter as significant: '[f]or the best analysis of gay male fashion clones see Cole "Macho Man": Clones and the Development of a Masculine Stereotype' (Karaminas and Geczy 2013).<sup>3</sup> Continuing expressions of overt masculine appearances in the 1980s and 1990s are examined alongside how the dress of the gay leather Sadomasochist subculture was adapted in the wake of the AIDS pandemic from the early 1980s onwards.

This post-liberation overt masculine visibility is compared and contrasted with the need in earlier decades for gay men to remain far less visible due to legal, social and moral factors. The fourth chapter of *Don We Now* specifically analyses how, prior to gay liberation, many gay men seemingly followed hegemonic male dress codes in order not to be identified by mainstream society as gay and adopted subtle secret signifiers to indicate sexual orientation. It is this exploration of the importance of public and private signs and signifiers that

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This chapter was also published in a slightly modified form in peer reviewed journal *Fashion Theory* in 2000, and was reproduced in *The Men's Fashion Reader* (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This book is due for publication on 15 August 2013. Quotes are taken from the manuscript copy I was invited by the publishers to review.

dress historian Elizabeth Wilson identified in her review for *History Workshop Journal* as one of the 'most interesting aspects of Cole's research [in *Don We Now Our Gay Apparel*]' (2001: 281).

The desire to appear masculine also led to a rise in interest in body-culture amongst gay men and I address this through the importance of physique magazines in gay popular culture from the 1950s onwards and specifically in a chapter which charts the rise of gay body-building and gym culture. In arguing that the 'muscle-mary' became the archetype and indeed stereotype of the nineties urban gay male, I address the impact of HIV and AIDS on gay men and their appearance and the beginnings of a new subculture, 'bears', that while remaining overtly masculine in appearance advocated a very different body image to the muscle mary. *Don We Now* concludes with a speculation around the 'clarity' of recognizing gay styles at the end of the twentieth century and reflects on how gay and straight male dress choices have become virtually indistinguishable.

Don We Now was seminal in that it specifically addressed in detail the ways in which dress was a significant means of self-identification for gay men throughout the twentieth century. It specifically identifies and examines for the first time in a consistent cohesive manner the ways in which Anglo-American gay men have negotiated their identities through both the subtle and blatant use of clothing, accessories and forms of body modification. The publication of this research is something that dress historians Wilson (2001) and Lou Taylor (2002, 2004) have both identified as being a significant contribution to the field of dress and fashion studies, and I will elaborate on this contribution more fully in Chapter Three of this thesis. In his review for *Fashion Theory* dress historian Peter McNeil (2004:106) noted that this 'deftly written and superblyresearched' book was 'the first extended text to map together this history of queer male sexuality and the history of men's dress' that 'takes a compulsory place in the burgeoning field of academic dress studies' (2004:108), reinforcing the significant contribution to knowledge made by this book. Similarly, and in the context of the social and economic history of dress and fashion, Taylor

points out that 'for the first time, analysis of gay culture and its impact on mainstream dressing' is introduced into the discussion of men's clothing and constructions of masculinity through the publication of *Don We Now Our Gay Apparel* (2002:81-2).

Two chapters from *Don We Now* - "Macho Man": Clones and the Development of a Masculine Stereotype' and 'Invisible Men?' - have been reproduced in Peter McNeil and Vicki Karaminas's 2009 *The Men's Fashion Reader* and in both editions (2007 and 2011) of Linda Welters and Abby Lillethun's *The Fashion Reader*, respectively. A version of 'Invisible Men' that predated and informed the chapter in *Don We Now*, and specifically drew on and addressed oral history methods in relation to my gathering of information, that originally appeared in Amy de La Haye and Elizabeth Wilson's 1999 *Defining Dress: Dress as Object, meaning and identity*, has also been reproduced in Hazel Jackson and Jeananne Coop's 2012 edited volume *A Cultural Perspective of Dress*. The inclusion of these chapters in these key fashion readers reinforces the importance and ongoing relevance of this original contribution to this relatively young and underexplored area of research, and as such sees it included within broader international discussions of fashion and dress.

# 1.1.2. Butch Queens in Macho Drag: Gay Men, Dress and Subcultural Identity

Don We Now's investigation and coverage ceased at the very end of the twentieth century. The aim of my 2008 book chapter 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag', published in Men's Fashion Reader (2008), was to identify and analyse specific 'masculine' gay subcultures that emerged in the late twentieth and early twenty-first century, within the context of their subcultural capital (Thornton 1996). This chapter focussed specifically on style-based subcultures that emphasised a masculine appearance, following a trajectory from the hypermasculine clones of the 1970s into the early twenty-first century. This is set in the context of the binary oppositions of masculine and feminine that have concerned gay identity and appearance, and the negotiations between these

that occurred pre-liberation. Here, I argue that the appropriation of the hypermasculine style of the clone impacted upon subsequent gay subcultural appearance, and I identify four particular subcultures – 'muscle boys', 'bears', 'scallys' and 'homothugs' – that developed a specifically masculine approach to style and dress. In identifying each of these subcultures it was my objective to articulate ideas about what it means to be a gay man in contemporary Western society.

Although muscle boys were addressed in *Don We Now*, in 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' I bring the discussion of the continuation of this body conscious style up to date and contrast it explicitly with the development of bear culture in the early twenty-first century (Suresha 2002, Hennen 2008). It is the negotiation of the body and the 'manipulation' of the body through gym-based artifice or attitudes and management of aging bodies that ties together these two sections of my argument; directly adding new knowledge to the field. In discussing bears I touch on class based identity and this becomes much more explicit in the discussion of the British white working class scally (Hardy 1996, Flynn 2005) and the African-American and Hispanic homothug (Wright 2001, Philip 2005). In both of these subcultures there is a negotiation with the notion of 'passing' (Garber 1997, Levine 1998, Wald 2000) in mainstream straight society and I identify how, in the case of homothugs, this is specifically related to entrenched attitudes about homosexuality in the African-American and Hispanic communities (Constantine-Simms 2001). While homothugs and scallys are specific to the United States and the United Kingdom respectively, there are common stylistic elements of dress that are related to sportswear and the global spread of hip-hop music. In relation to muscle boys and bears, both of which originated in the United States I identify the spread of these styles throughout the world.

This chapter also began to engage more fully with the interrelationship between sexuality and race, particularly as a result of investigations undertaken for the

groundbreaking *Black British Style* exhibition held at the V&A in 2004-5.<sup>4</sup> Although it is not specifically included as part of this PhD submission, this exhibition was important in the development of my approach to my research.<sup>5</sup> Taking time away from the specific study of gay male dress but remaining within a subject that addressed the role of clothing and appearance in the formulation of identity allowed me to reflect upon my previous work and to consider such subjects more broadly. That the exhibition had an equal focus upon men's as well as women's dressed appearance led me to consider more broadly aspects of masculinity and the interrelationships between the various individual elements that constitute an person's identity and impacted upon the areas investigated in 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag', specifically those relating to class and race.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> I co-curated this exhibition with Carol Tulloch, now Professor in Dress, Diaspora and Transnationalism at Camberwell, Chelsea and Wimbledon (CCW). At the time of the *Black British Style* exhibition Tulloch was Research Fellow jointly at Chelsea College of Art and Design and the V&A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Black British Style specifically explored issues of race, ethnicity, age and gender and how they were negotiated via dress choice, through the display of men's, women's and children's clothing. The exhibition was groundbreaking in that it was the first time that a British National Museum had dedicated space to a major exhibition that dealt with dress practices amongst black people in Britain from the late 1940s to 2004. It drew on and fed into the V&A's remit to engage with new audiences and to address and record fashion, style and identity within areas that had previously been neglected by the Museum, reflecting the redressing of neglect in the study of gay male dress in my published works. The exhibition challenged stereotypes associated with black aesthetics and identities, particularly around the situating of black dress within subcultural and street styles, and placed the dress choices made by individuals to define their sense of self in a historical context. In her review for *Costume*, dress historian Lou Taylor noted that "this thoughtful and intelligent exhibition" was "the star event" of the V&A's 'Access Inclusion and Disability Strategy' programme (2005: 136). Black British Style's cultural significance and contribution to the field of knowledge was extended nationally as it toured to four regional museums in the UK and internationally as it was the inspiration for the exhibition 'Black Style Now' (2006) at the Museum of the City of New York. While the *Black British Style* exhibition looked more broadly at identity and dress among the black British population there was an element that considered the "mantra' of race, gender and class" (Mercer 1994:204) that has underpinned much consideration in cultural studies and in relation to dress and identity. Some of the considerations that were explored within the exhibition in relation to male dress choices were around the relationship between gender and sexuality and how that manifested itself within and through other elements of black cultural experience such as music, clubbing and religion. See also Tulloch 2004.

#### 1.1.3. Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality: 'Up-Top and Down Below'

The chapter 'Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality', which appeared in an edited book on cultural approaches to hair entitled *Hair: Styling Culture and Fashion* (2008), aimed to address power and social control in relation to masculinity and sexuality as expressed through gay men's hair grooming regimes. The role of hair and the practices engaged in to control head, facial and body hair in relation to gay identity was an area of managed appearance (Kaiser 2013) that I initially examined in *Don We Now* and the aim of this book chapter was to examine this in greater detail.

Situating my argument within Judith Butler's (1990) and David Gauntlett's (2002) propositions on identity, gender and the body and Grant McCracken's (1995) articulation of hair as a symbol of 'self-invention' I address some of the ways in which gay men have managed their hair as a marker of their sexual identity. I particularly examine the ways in which this management is dominated by strategies of both subversion of, and conformity to, hegemonic 'straight' masculinity (Connell 1995). Considering how the negotiations of the distinctions between shaving or cutting and growth are part of a broader historical continuum, where long hair for men has historically had associations of effeminacy and degeneracy and where shaved heads symbolized criminality, these practices are situated in relation to the history of gay male appearance management. In relation to the controlled presence or absence of body hair I compare the 1970s idealised hairy macho man with the bear of the early twenty-first century and contrast this with a comparison between the shaved and groomed muscle boys and the predominantly heterosexual metrosexual man (Simpson 1994a and 2002) and their shared body management and consumption of grooming products. It is this articulation of gay male masculinity and /or effeminacy through hair that marks this chapter's new contribution to knowledge, discussed further in Chapters Three and Four.

#### 1.1.4. The Story of Men's Underwear

The Story of Men's Underwear (2010) was simultaneously published in English, French and German. This book, consisting of six chapters over 256 pages, offers the first full and comprehensive history of Western men's underwear. The aims of the research for the book were to:

- examine the historical development of men's undergarments from the early modern period to the early twenty-first century;
- chart technological developments on the design and manufacture of men's underwear;
- explore the significance and representation of men's undergarments in changing cultural contexts;
- analyse the relationship between attitudes towards masculinity and male sexuality in relation to the design and consumption of underwear.

The objectives that followed these aims were firstly the examination of technical processes, secondly, charting and analysis of references to underwear in literature and other printed sources and thirdly the analysis of the representation of men's undergarments in advertising imagery.

The Story of Men's Underwear acknowledges and draws upon the existing studies on men's underwear, usually included as a secondary and less 'interesting' aspect of fashion history, by dress scholars such as Cecil Willet and Phillis Cunnington (1951), Jeremy Farrell (1992), Valerie Steele (1989, 1996), and Alison Carter (1992) and the work specifically addressing male underwear advertising by Richard Martin (1992, 1995), Bruce Joffe (2007) and Paul Jobling (2003, 2005). My awareness that women's underwear had been studied and explored by a large number of academics and historians and that men's underwear was usually dealt with as an addition to women's in the more serious works or was dealt with in a humorous or trivialised fashion in relatively short books, led to my undertaking the research that underpinned this publication.

However, it is here that my book offers a new contribution to the scholarship on underwear in that it redresses this previous imbalance in scholarship by providing a thorough history of the manufacture and design development of male undergarments and situating this within a cultural and social history context that is related to the presentation, merchandising and consumption of such garments. The research that underpinned *The Story of Men's Underwear* draws methodologically upon the pluralistic approach to methods and sources that has become a key aspect of both fashion studies and cultural studies, which I will address further in Chapter Two.

Each of the first four chapters of the book, which are arranged chronologically, addresses the development of the various garments that comprise men's underwear and their place in social history and contemporary society. The fifth chapter, like the ones that preceded it, offers a chronological history of men's hosiery that parallels that of the other garments in chapters one to four. The final chapter of the book takes a different approach, focusing specifically on the advertising of men's underwear, considering the language and images, how these have both been used to sell the garments and have made specific commentaries on approaches to masculinity and the changes in the presentation of the male body throughout the twentieth and twenty-first centuries.

Addressing the specific styles of undergarments for both the upper and lower body in the medieval period the first chapter investigates notions of morality and cleanliness related to the body and the coverings that were worn in direct proximity to it. This, alongside other themes, such as considerations of social class, health, technological and industrial development, and new fabrics, is explored throughout the book. That technical innovation has had an enormous impact upon the development of the hosiery and underwear industries is key to

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For the purposes of this book I identify underwear as any garment which is worn completely or partially under an outer layer of clothing, including items, such as the shirt, which although now not considered underwear was historically regarded as such, and hosiery and socks which due to a shared technological development with other knitted undergarments are relevant to this story.

my arguments presented in this book. The introduction of new knitting machines in the seventeenth century and technological innovations following the industrial revolution that impacted upon men's underwear in terms of the machinery used to produce the fabrics or construct the garments, such as industrial sewing machines, the discovery of new materials and processes in the nineteenth century are explored and placed in a cultural context. Like the late nineteenth century, the mid twentieth century saw an explosion of new technological and scientific experiments and discoveries that led to the use of new manmade fibres in men's underclothes and the importance of this is examined.

The role of the shirt as an underwear and nightwear garment and its stylistic development is a running theme throughout the first three chapters. In considering the white shirt as a signifier of class based stylistic choices, a broader overview of the silhouette changes in men's fashion is undertaken. While this may appear to be digressing from the focus of the book, it does highlight how the shape and volume of male undergarments was involved in a symbiotic relationship with outer garments, where one impacted upon the other in terms of the appearance and comfort of the wearer.

The developmental change of lower body garments from the fifteenth century onwards in Europe allowed a consideration of comparable garments continuously worn outside of 'Euromodernity', for example in both the Sikh religious communities and in Japan. The first part of the third chapter examines specific types of garments: the union suit or combination and relates it to the Mormon temple garment; shorts, both knitted and woven; and the progression of the T-shirt from under to outer wear and its icon status as a symbol of a new post-war youthful masculinity. The stylistic and decorative changes in men's hosiery and underwear up to the nineteenth century is reflected in both historic documentation and accounts in contemporary novels and plays that I use as sources for my discussion. Indeed such resources were key to the recounting of particular styles and modes of dress throughout the entire book, as I shall demonstrate in Chapter Three.

Two key case studies in the book are Jockey and Calvin Klein. Coopers Jockey Y-front, launched in 1935, marked a significant moment of change in men's underwear, both stylistically and in terms of promotion. Calvin Klein and his influential entry into the men's underwear market in 1982 precipitated a significant shift to designers creating underwear ranges alongside the traditional undergarment manufacturers and the associated advertising campaign that has had an enormous impact upon the presentation of the male body. The latter part of the fourth chapter focuses upon an examination of socio-cultural considerations in relation to men's underpants: notions such as tight-fitting garments and male infertility, the introduction of enhancement techniques to promote a more virile and well-endowed appearance; and deliberations on the gender and sexual orientation of the consumer and buyer - a considered division of definitions - of men's underwear.

The change in approach from chronology of garment developments to a thematic analysis of advertising in the final chapter reflects to an extent the change in the field and approach to the study of underwear from the more traditional dress history approach with a focus on the garments to a more cultural studies approach that concentrates upon the social and cultural contexts, in particular here the promotion and representation of men, masculinity and the clothed, or unclothed, male body. Although Martin (1992, 1995), Joffe (2007) and Jobling (2003, 2005) had covered aspects of underwear advertising, *The Story of Men's Underwear* brings this together with a broader overview of the development of the garment for the first time. Using a wide range of specific examples of British, American and European advertisements, predominantly print, the thematic areas in the final chapter cover the details and specific features of the garments and the scenarios and locations, such as dressing rooms, bedrooms, and locker rooms, in which the portrayed men are placed. Other sections specifically examine the ways in which the male body is either hinted at or specifically revealed in the adverts. Taking the 1982 Calvin Klein launch of the as a key change moment, I analyse the increasing sexualisation of the male body in relation to both the female and the

homeroerotic gaze (Mulvey 1975, Fuss 1992, Schuckmann 1988). Further sections develop such a notion by considering the humour in adverts to subvert the homoerotic gaze and the use ambiguity and camp to target a specific but undeclared knowing homosexual viewer.

Continuing the theme of previously neglected or underexplored areas of dress history *The Story of Men's Underwear* was a full and detailed investigation into the history and cultural implications of men's underwear. This was the first time that a serious scholarly book had been dedicated solely to the subject of men's underwear and in her review in *Costume*, dress historian Jill Salen notes that this book 'allows men's underwear to have a place on the bookshelf, rather than a small chapter in the history of underwear' (2012: 254), thus pointing to the contribution to knowledge made by this book. The importance of the publication of *The Story of Men's Underwear* was marked by *The New Yorker* when their London correspondent, Lauren Collins, reported on a lecture I gave as part of the 2010 'Inside Out' festival, organised by The Culture Capital Exchange (TCCE) <sup>7</sup> noting that it 'covered nearly everything ...from the Japanese fundoshi to moisture-wicking microfiber trunks' (Collins, 2010:34). The book was also highlighted in *Times Higher Education* (Reisz 2012) in relation to its launch as part of the TCCE festival, as a key example of the way in which academic work is exchanged and promoted to a non-academic audience. Brian E. Coutts, a former advisor to Jockey underwear company and selector of the 'Best Reference Books of the Year' for the American *Library Journal*, called the book 'a tour de force of men's undergarments' that is 'likely to become a collector's item' (Coutts, 2010).8 Coutts also selected the book as one of the best books on Clothing and Dress in the 2010 annual roundup in the American *Library Journal* in April 2011, alongside Berg's nine-volume publication Encyclopedia of World Dress and Fashion (2010).9

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Culture Capital Exchange is a membership organisation dedicated to promoting the exchange of knowledge through a network of Higher Education Institutions and the cultural and creative sectors in London.

<sup>8</sup> http://bgdailynews.com/articles/2011/07/31/features/feat3.txt

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> I contributed an entry on 'Lesbian and Gay Dress' to *Volume 8: Western Europe* of this Encyclopedia.

#### 1.2. The Interrelationship of the Submitted Works

This collective body of work deals specifically and significantly with the clothed male body and this is the primary element in drawing the four works together as a cohesive body of work. While each of the publications takes a slightly different standpoint on its approach to the dressed male body, addressing the body in relation to sexuality and identity serves as a unifying component throughout the overall body of work.

The ways in which men, predominantly gay in the case of this body of work, have used dress to articulate expressions of identities is also a key factor in tying these four publications together as one body of work. The visible expressions and articulations of the multiple aspects that make up an individual's identity that were initially explored in *Don We Now* (2000) were subsequently developed. Investigations into identities and their relationship with aspects of masculinity were central to the book chapters 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag: Gay Men Dress and Subcultural Identity' (2008) 'Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality: "Up-Top and Down Below"' (2008) and to the monograph *The Story of Men's Underwear* (2010).

The reactions and responses of gay men to hegemonic impositions of male dress also provide a clear linking thread throughout this body of work. These tie into the examination of, and challenges to, ideas around binary oppositions and polarisations that have underpinned both dress choices and the examinations of men's dress, and flow through the body of work. Examinations of subcultural expressions of identity feature throughout this body of work, thus providing a connection through notions of resistance, as it was a key term in subcultural theory. These works also particularly address subcultural identity through adherence to traditions of Western masculinity, or reactions against these through overtly effeminate expressions through dress. In turn these make a link to the place of undergarments as 'appropriate' male clothing and in the public representations of masculinities through underwear advertising and other forms of visual culture explored in the works.

That gay history was, until the late twentieth century, a hidden history (Duberman *et al* 1991, Gelder 2007) is significant. Homosexuality was often invisible, or visible only to those who knew how and where to look. In articulating a set of arguments and propositions around the binary between the 'visibility' and 'invisibility' of gay men, through a series of analyses of dress choices, I make a connection with the 'invisibility' of undergarments. I examine this in terms of their position on the body below outerwear and in terms of a recognised and comprehensive telling of its history. This move from invisibility to visibility is similarly mirrored in the explosion of advertising images of underwear-clad men that emerged from the late 1980s onwards, concurrently with greater public prominence of gay men. This negotiation between seen and unseen, visible and invisible, that runs through the body of work provides common and unifying strand.

The final connecting factor that ties these four works together as a cohesive body of work is my approach to and use of methods of research. While this will be discussed in greater detail in Chapter Three, it is the gathering of lived experiences and oral testimonies used in conjunction with the analyses of images and texts, that I will argue provide a unifying element to this body of work.

### 1.3. The Standing of the Publishers

Berg Publishers was founded in 1983 and quickly gained a reputation for scholarly excellence in visual arts subjects, in particular fashion studies, a field which it has significantly helped to define over the last twenty years. In 1997 Berg launched the pioneering refereed journal *Fashion Theory* and the 'Dress, Body, Culture' series of books, with Joanne Eicher, authority on the anthropology of dress, as the series editor. Berg also led the way in online scholarly publishing with its multi-award winning Berg Fashion Library. <sup>10</sup> *Don* 

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Shortlisted for Digital Entrepreneur Award 2010, Highly Commended ALPSP Certificate for Publishing Innovation 2011, Winner of the Independent Publishers Guild

We Now (2000) and the edited volume in which the chapter 'Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality' (2008) appear were both published by Berg.

In 2008 Berg was acquired by Bloomsbury Publishing, a leading international academic publisher and now makes up part of Bloomsbury's Academic and Professional Division, one that has won and been shortlisted for a number of prestigious awards.<sup>11</sup> All Berg and Bloomsbury Academic books are peer reviewed at both proposal and manuscript stages.

Fairchild Books, established in 1910 and who published *Men's Fashion Reader* (2008) in which my chapter 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' appeared, was until its acquisition by Bloomsbury Publishing in 2012, a market-leading publisher of textbooks and educational resources on subjects including fashion, merchandising, retailing and interior design. Fairchild Books publications are peer reviewed at both proposal and manuscript stage books and this will continue to be the case now they are part of Bloomsbury's Academic and Professional Division.

Parkstone Press International, publishers of *The Story of Men's Underwear* (2010) specialises in high quality art books published in twenty-three languages. Internationally renowned curatorial staff at the Musée Galliera in Paris review the manuscripts of Parkstone Press International's small series of fashion books.

Frankfurt Book Fair Digital Award 2008 and 2009, Winner of the Bookseller FutureBook Award for Best Website 2011, Winner of the ALA Outstanding Reference Source 2011, Winner of the 2011 Dartmouth Medal for Outstanding Reference, and

Winner of the 2013 PCAACA Electronic Reference Award.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Shortlisted for Digital Entrepreneur Award 2010, Highly Commended ALPSP Certificate for Publishing Innovation 2011, Winner of the Independent Publishers Guild Frankfurt Book Fair Digital Award 2008 and 2009, Winner of the Bookseller FutureBook Award for Best Website 2011, Winner of the ALA Outstanding Reference Source 2011, Winner of the 2011 Dartmouth Medal for Outstanding Reference, and Winner of the 2013 PCAACA Electronic Reference Award.

#### 1.4. Conclusion

This chapter provided a summary of each of the four publications submitted for this PhD by Published work. It explained the aims and objectives of each of the publications and offered an overview of the themes and areas of investigation contained within each book. For each publication a context in which the book or chapter was published, including outlining existing literature in the areas addressed within the publications, was offered. This chapter also served to indicate the reception of both *Don We Now* and *The Story of Men's Underwear* and outline the standing of the publishers of these works. The next chapter will expand upon and extend the situating of these works by outlining the fields of study in which this body of work is situated and to which it contributes.

# CHAPTER 2. POSITIONING THE BODY OF WORK IN ITS FIELDS OF STUDY

My published work has predominantly dealt with ideas about how male identity is communicated through dress and appearance and this is where my major contribution to knowledge lies. There has been a considerable amount of writing, much of which has come from sociological and anthropological disciplines and positioning (Konig 1973, Polhemus and Procter 1978, Wilson 1985, Roach-Higgins, Eicher and Johnson 1995, Finkelstein 1996, Crane 2000, Entwistle 2000) that has dealt with the notion of fashion, dress, appearance and identity. In 1999 de la Haye and Wilson noted that the 'sociological study of dress has shifted to incorporate the study of the human body [which is understood] as a social construct producing multiple meanings' (1999: 3). Although the four works under consideration in this thesis took into consideration the sociological and anthropological approaches that have been applied to fashion and dress, my submitted body of work which has a particular focus upon men, masculinity, the body and sexuality, as outlined in Chapter One, is situated within the 'fields' of cultural studies and fashion studies, and particularly at the point at which these two areas overlap.

#### 2.1. The Intersection of Cultural Studies and Fashion Studies

The point at which cultural studies and fashion studies intersect and the relationships between aspects of these two fields has most recently been highlighted and explored by Professor of Women and Gender Studies at University of California, Davis, Susan B. Kaiser in her 2012 book *Fashion and Cultural Studies*. Kaiser opens her book by pointing out that it draws on concepts and models of feminist cultural studies and fashion studies, specifically those that 'challenge simple or oppositional (either/or), linear (straight), and

essentialist (predetermined, fixed bounded) ways of thinking' (2012: 2). She uses the term *fashion studies* to cover the complex range of concepts that are encompassed by the three terms *fashion, dress* and *style* and as such invokes and utilises Carol Tulloch's 2010 amalgamated term, 'style-fashion-dress.' Tulloch herself described this term as one which 'signifies the multitude of meanings and frame- works that are always "whole-and-part" of dress studies' (2010: 275).<sup>12</sup> Relating specifically to the way in which I see my own research as being interdisciplinary, <sup>13</sup> further demonstrated in Chapter Three, Kaiser highlights how fashion studies and cultural studies are both interdisciplinary fields that 'require the perspectives of multiple fields, theories, methods, and practices' (2012: 8).

A significant precursor to Kaiser's position can be found in Breward (1995) where he used cultural studies approaches alongside art and design histories to introduce both a new interpretation of fashion history and to 'provide a fluid framework for the study of fashion in its own right' (Breward 1998: 303). To emphasise concepts that are key within cultural studies Breward's 1998 essay has two subsections dedicated to 'Fashion and signification' and 'Pleasure and Politics', subjects which I address in more detail in relation to my own positioning within the field of cultural studies below. Breward significantly noted that 'cultural studies offers a way of studying objects as systems rather than as the simple product of authorship' and that this could be applied to dress

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In relation to Kaiser's use of the word 'studies' it is interesting to note that in his examination of the relationship between the study of culture, cultural studies and fashion written in 1997, Breward highlights his own use of the term 'dress studies' over dress 'history' (1997:309), as it offers an opportunity for broader contemporary, social and cultural readings of dress and fashion rather than a more reductive chronological historical approach.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> In his 2011 work *What's Become of Cultural Studies?* Graham Turner offers the following basic definition of and differentiation between inter- and multidisciplinary: 'At its simplest, a multidisciplinary approach incorporates multiple disciplinary perspectives, independently and discretely applied, whereas an interdisciplinary approach involves a degree of mixing and collaboration between the disciplinary perspectives and thus a way of allowing them to "talk" to each other' (Turner 2011:38).

studies, a term Breward preferences over dress history, to situate dress in its broadest contexts (1998: 306).<sup>14</sup>

Australian fashion theorist Jennifer Craik also addressed cultural studies in her 1994 book *The Face of Fashion* that examined the relationships between high fashion and everyday dress. Of the nine chapters in her book, one 'Fashioning Masculinity: dressed for comfort or style' specifically addresses men's clothing and its relation to changing notions of masculinity both in the West and outside. A further chapter 'States of Undress: Lingerie to Swimwear' does address the clothed male body, but is given lesser focus than women's. It is this imbalance that I have redressed through the extensive examination and specific focus of men's undergarments in *The Story of Men's Underwear*, as discussed above in Chapter One, and that marks my contribution to scholarship. Craik's other six chapters deal almost exclusively with women's clothing and fashion, reinforcing that at that time 'fashion' was closely equated with women's clothes.

This is an issue that Kaiser (2012) raises, noting that despite the increased growth in research and publishing on menswear, it still plays a secondary role to women's. I will discuss my contribution to redressing this imbalance in Chapter Four. Apart from underwear and swimwear, which are dealt with in their own chapter, Craik's 'masculinity' chapter attempts to deal with parallel issues to those in the other female focused chapters. Craik's consideration of

\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> While it recognised that cultural studies was essentially British in its early formations, there was also developments outside of the UK significantly in North America and Australia. American cultural studies significantly grew out of American Studies, which began in the 1930s, exploring what it could mean to be American through the lens of identifying the unique American experience, as well as the intersections and crossing of disciplinary boundaries to create an 'interdisciplinary methodology, with its own distinctive working practices' (Campbell and Kean 1997:1). Simon During (2005) identifies the work of Michael Denning as being significant and how the 'left-wing intellectual tradition' influenced 'seminal feminist Betty Friedan... whose work feeds into cultural studies as we know it today' (24). This particular focus upon 'American-ness, the American experience and the link with American studies highlights how 'area studies' is particularly strong. This interdisciplinary study of particular regions pays a particular attention to 'authority and authenticity of native experience' (Harootunian 2000: 41) Although Breward is British and Kaiser American they are both focussing on the relationship between fashion and cultural studies in a broad global and international sense and in light of this I write about them together here for this concentration on the intersection between fashion and cultural studies.

men's outer and underwear informed my own writing. I particularly drew on Craik's set of denials about men and fashion to articulate arguments presented in the introduction of *Don We Now* (2000) and her examination of underwear informed my approach in this book's chapter on gay men's under-and swimwear and *The Story of Men's Underwear* (2010) in that I examined how men's relationships to clothing and appearance have altered throughout the twentieth and twenty-first centuries.

Following her situating the interrelationship between the fields of fashion studies and cultural studies in the first chapter, Kaiser (2012) outlines assumptions around subject formation, intersectionality and transnationalism. The chapters that follow are each dedicated to a particular subject position: nationality, ethnicity and race, social class, gender, sexuality and time/age and space/place. Despite each of these chapters having a particular focus Kaiser is at pains to articulate how each of these subject positions relate to the others. It should be noted that these subject positions are ones that I have dealt with either individually or in combinations within the work submitted for this PhD and will be addressed in more detail in Chapter Four, that outlines and unpacks the key themes – sexuality, identities, subcultures, men's dress, masculinities and the clothed body.

In her chapter entitled 'Sexuality and Style-Fashion-Dress', Kaiser specifically references and uses my published works as key examples to discuss the ways in which sexual orientation as a subject position has impacted upon style-fashion-dress choices amongst gay men. In the section 'Binary "beginnings" and reversals"' she uses *Don We Now* to situate eighteenth century homosexual "mollies" use of female clothing for identification and sexual liaisons (152). Moving into the late twentieth century she notes that 'Cole (2000) contends that the cultural discourse linking fashion to homosexuality began to diminish with the "menswear" or "peacock" revolution' (159) and reproduces the opening lines of my book, drawing on my situating of class and aesthetics in the first chapter of *Don We Now*. Kaiser concludes this paragraph with my exploration of the practice of "passing" amongst gay men (Garber 1997, Levine 1998). She

later returns to this in relation to the relationship between questioning of sexual identity in dress choices.

# 2.2. Disciplinarity and the Future of an Un- or Non Discipline

Before going on to situate my work within 'fashion studies' and 'cultural studies' it is worth addressing the notion of disciplinarity and how this impacted upon my submitted work as it is situated at the intersection between these two 'fields' that are still being debated in terms of their position as 'disciplines'.

Anthropologist Daniel Miller has noted that there are 'many advantages to remaining undisciplined and many disadvantages and constraints by trying to claim disciplinary status.' (1998:4), while sociologist, Diana Crane (2010) proposed the creation of 'trading zones' between fields and 'clusters of fields' that would facilitate interdisciplinary discussion without the need for the creation of new disciplines.<sup>15</sup>

The one day workshop 'The Future of Fashion Studies: A Fashion Network' held at Warwick University on April 30, 2009 <sup>16</sup> in which I participated, discussed 'methodologies and research agendas of the growing area of fashion studies'

core of the narrative. (Tseëlon 2010: 11)

 $<sup>^{15}</sup>$  Iames Chandler, Director of the Franke Institute for Humanities at the University of Chicago has been at the forefront of discussions within the humanities about the concept and meanings of discipline. In his introduction to a special edition of the journal *Critical Inquiry* he notes that disciplines are located within an 'institutional framework' where they can be 'mediated and effected' and offer 'professional attachment' and 'a sense of belonging' and goes on to identify the 'development of new fields that might be called shadow disciplines' including 'cultural studies, gender studies race studies, performance studies, film studies, media studies, ethnic studies, and science studies' from the late 1960s onwards (2009: 737). <sup>16</sup> Convened by Giorgio Riello and Stella Bruzzi and attended by amongst others, Elizabeth Wilson, Eugenia Paulicelli (City University of New York), Louise Wallenberg (Centre for Fashion Studies at Stockholm University) and Christopher Breward (V&A). Although most of my quoting from this workshop is based on McNeil's report in Fashion Theory (2010), it is also informed by my attendance at and contribution to the workshop. In her editorial in the 2010 inaugural edition of the journal Critical Studies in Fashion and Beauty Efrat Tseëlon discusses a lack of consensus on canonical lists of key players in the various areas of dress and fashion studies: 'Every branch (representing different core disciplines, or different linguistic communities) has its own list of star performers and every new 'fashion studies reader' or encyclopaedia is trying to rewrite history as they see it, and to place a different set of celebrities at the

and whether 'fashion studies' constituted a field or a discipline in its own right. (McNeil 2010:105). <sup>17</sup> Francesca Granata (2012) reiterated this position in her comparison of the multi-methodological approach required by fashion studies to other emergent disciplines, such as film and performance studies. In the introduction to *The Uses of Cultural Studies* feminist cultural theorist Angela McRobbie notes that cultural studies is not 'a tightly defined discipline' but rather 'a shifting terrain, a site of dispute and contestation' (2005: 2). Much of the writing that has examined cultural studies addresses the positioning of cultural studies in relation to the notion of disciplines and disciplinarity. <sup>18</sup> While this relates in many cases to the methods that can and have been employed by and within cultural studies I will deal with this in Chapter Three, which examines the methods of research I have employed in my work.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> It is notable that today in the UK cultural studies has a particular position as a 'supporting' area that underpins the study of other more traditional disciplines and practice-based study in areas of art and design. It is significant that the majority of fashion courses - particularly at undergraduate level all require the study of cultural studies to underpin the practice based elements of such courses. By fashion courses I refer to the full range of vocational courses that can include fashion design, fashion journalism, fashion promotion and so on. Courses or units that deal with cultural studies have varying names according to institutions, for example at London College of Fashion they come under Cultural and Historical Studies and at Brighton University Cultural and Supporting Studies. Indeed my own teaching practice is situated within a broad framework of cultural studies in my role as Course Leader for MA History and Culture of Fashion at London College of Fashion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Taking up the idea of disciplinarity Simon During asks: 'Is cultural studies a specific discipline or does it exist across or outside established disciplines? ... such questions have helped to generate the discipline itself (2005: 10). While During seems to conclude here that cultural studies is a discipline, others contend and contest this notion. Graham Turner (2011) for example dedicates a whole chapter to 'The Undiscipline: Cultural Studies and Interdisciplinarity' where he argues for the strength of cultural studies remaining outside of becoming an established discipline building on his earlier 1993 work where he discusses the 'virtues of being an "undiscipline" and emphasised the importance of cultural studies as an undisciplined, contestatory, fluid field of theory and practice' (1993; 12). It is generally acknowledged within the writings on cultural studies that the work has been produced predominantly within the confines of academic institutions, despite the fact that in its earliest manifestations it was often a reaction against the traditional disciplinary structures of institutions (cf. During 2005, Hall in McCabe 2007, Turner 2011). But the fact that cultural studies has remained outside of a disciplinary definition, Tony Bennett argued, could be seen as an institutional failure but despite that 'cultural studies has all the institutional trappings of a discipline' (1998: 530). Graham Turner acknowledges a value for cultural studies as a 'resource' for disciplines (2011:157) while Simon During notes the position of cultural studies as 'a site where different disciplines meet: it gestures at a cross disciplinarity rather than at even an inter-disciplinarity' (During 2005: 12).

### 2.3. Cultural Studies

The writings on cultural studies are numerous and the creation of academic works that outline the history, continuing development and changes within the area, as well as those outlining the uses and methodologies associated with or adopted within cultural studies, is a whole industry in itself, as is noted in recent works (Barker 2012, Durham and Kellner 2012, Grossberg 2010, Highmore 2009, Ryan 2010, Turner 2011). The first book to attempt to give an overview of the development of cultural studies was Graham Turner's 1990 *British Cultural Studies: an introduction.* <sup>19</sup> It is therefore beyond the remit of this thesis to attempt to present a history of cultural studies; instead this section will address key thematic areas - power and the politics of identity; queer studies and queer theory; masculinities; and representation - in order to situate my submitted body of work within cultural studies and demonstrate where I make a contribution to the field.

### 2.3.1. Power and Politics of Identity

The concept of power 'has become a (if not *the*) key term in cultural studies' (Longhurst *et al* 2008: 144) and the explorations of the ways in which power has been examined in relation to 'culture' in its broadest sense has underpinned the breadth of work encompassed by the term cultural studies. As Michel Foucault argues, 'power comes from everywhere' (1990: 93) and thus permeates all social relations. For Michel de Certeau (1984) there is a marked distinction between strategies of power and tactics of resistance: a notion that was key in British cultural studies, particularly following Hall and Jefferson's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Turner's work and was quickly followed by works by Patrick Brantlinger's *Crusoe's Footprints: Cultural Studies in Britain and America* (1990), Martin Barker and Anne Beezer's *Reading into Cultural Studies* (1992), and Ann Gray and Jim McGuigan's *Studying Culture: an introductory reader* (1993). In the second edition of *British Cultural Studies* Turner notes that while the book acknowledges the initial developments of cultural studies in Britain it does not deal exclusively with British cultural studies but looks at other, significantly European, influences and developments, while in his 2011 *What's Become of Cultural Studies?* he discusses the criticism he received for this title and explains how this was the publishers decision to ensure that the book sold to an American market.

1976 edited volume *Resistance Through Rituals*, and one that I have addressed in my body of work in relation to the ways in which gay men have used their dress practices to 'resist' perceptions of homosexuality and to make statements of resistance in relation to the hegemonic men's fashion.

Academics at the University of Birmingham's Centre for Contemporary Cultural Studies (CCCS) describe Italian Marxist theorist Antonio Gramsci's use of the term 'hegemony' to 'refer to the moment when a ruling class is able, not only to coerce a subordinate class to conform to its interests ... so that the granting of legitimacy to the dominant classes appears not only "spontaneous" but natural and normal' (Clarke et al, 1975: 38). That this definition appears in the first essay of Resistance through Rituals (1976) is significant in that giving an overview of how Gramsci utilised the concept, it also specifically situates the term within the study of subcultures. Barker (2003) highlights how in subcultural theory the notion of 'resistance' to dominant cultures is fore grounded and that initially this was manifested through discussions of social class but later broadened to include race, gender and, I would argue to a lesser extent, sexuality.<sup>20</sup> That analyses of subcultural styles, particularly youth cultures, in Britain gained precedence in the work of the CCCS is significant and my own work was informed by subcultural studies, a subject I will return to in Chapter Four. The notion of resistance to hegemonic diktats within, and as a key part of, lesbian and gay history also informed how I undertook my early research, leading to a thorough examination of how gay men either fitted into or stood outside recognised and acceptable dress codes for men in this body of work.

Postcolonial theorist Homi Bhabha's particular contribution to cultural studies is to stress the ways in which class must necessarily give way to and be superseded by multiculturalism and community. Thus the notion of resistance is particularly prominent in his reconceptualisation of the stereotype as a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> This connects to the way in which my own work initially developed out of research for the V&A's *Streetstyle* exhibition that was underpinned by the subcultural writings and explorations of the CCCS, as discussed in Chapter One.

'complex, ambivalent, contradictory mode of representation' (1994: 22). While Bhabha is considering the racial stereotype in light of colonialism and the coloniser, the idea of stereotype does feature within this submitted body of work and pushes forwards debates about the currency of stereotypes. This body of work particularly addresses how effeminate and subsequently hypermasculine stereotypes pervade the representation of gay men and impact upon the way in which they chose to dress to either conform or negate those stereotypes in *Don We Now* (2000) and 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag (2008). The stereotype also appears in my examinations of masculinity in relation to the underwear clad male in *The Story of Men's Underwear* (2010).

The notion of a non-Anglophone cultural studies (During 2005, Turner 2011) raises the question of the ways in which cultural studies has developed ideas around race, ethnicity, the post-colonial and multiculturalism.<sup>21</sup> Cultural critic Kobena Mercer's *Welcome to the Jungle* (1994) specifically focussed on the idea of black cultural studies and an examination of how racial identity and ethnicity could be examined in relation to masculinities. He also coined 'the mantra of race, class and gender' that has become prevalent in discussions of identity (1994: 204). While my book *Don We Now* did not initially consider in any detail the notions of race and ethnicity, 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' has examined the place of racial and ethnic background in relation to sexual orientation and representation of the 'other' 'queer' body. <sup>22</sup>

Often implicit in the discussion of power is the notion of the 'political' and 'if we take "politics" as the realm of power relations in general, then "politics" has expanded its definition to cover all social and cultural relations' (Longhurst *et al* 

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> These concerns were discussed in depth by Stuart Hall in a large body of both singly (1992, 2000, 2001) and jointly authored and edited published work (Hall *et al* 1978, Hall and Jefferson, 1976) and by Paul Gilroy in his trilogy of books (1987, 1993, 2000) that developed arguments around sociology of race and race relations, the lived experience of racialism, and black expressive culture.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> This is particularly important in the light of works such as Robert F. Reid-Pharr's *Black Gay* Man (2001), Patrick Johnson and Mae Henderson's *Black Queer Studies: a critical anthology* (2005) and *Why I Hate Abercrombie and Fitch* (2005) by Dwight A. McBride, as well as work that has addressed African diasporic fashion and black masculinities such as that by Van Dyk Lewis (1996, 2003) and Monica L. Miller's *Slaves to Fashion: Black Dandyism and the styling of black diasporic identity* (2009).

2008: 144) then it follows that all examination of culture and everything that takes place within 'culture' is political.<sup>23</sup> Significant to both cultural studies and this body of work is that of the 'politics of identity' and/or 'identity politics'. This is, of course, a complex area but one that did arise from feelings of oppression and a desire to articulate and fight against hegemonic oppression and thus was bound up with new social movements, significantly women's liberation and feminism, civil rights and anti-racism and the lesbian and gay liberation movement, all of which brought an element of the idea that the 'personal is political' to their arenas of concern and protest. For my own work the writings that dealt with the gay liberation and gay rights movements, such as Jeffrey Weeks' Coming Out (1977) and Sex, Politics and Society (1981), Dennis Altman's Homosexual: Oppression and Liberation (1974) and The Homosexualization of America (1981) and Ken Plummer's edited volume The Making of the Modern Homosexual (1981), were significant in underpinning how identity and the expression of identity through dress and appearance was a political stance.

### 2.3.2. Queer Studies and Theory

The development of gay and lesbian politics into queer politics has also been significantly addressed within cultural studies as queer politics is 'one of the most interesting developments in identity politics' to emerge from the proposal that identity is performed (Longhurst *et al* 2008: 142). In proposing that performance is 'that discursive practice which enables or produces that which it names', Judith Butler (1993: 13) advanced sociologist Erving Goffman's (1969 [1959]) exploration of the performance of identity and self. Butler (1990, 1993) proposed that gender and sex should be understood in terms of performativity, a concept Butler adopted initially from Jacques Derrida, but later reflected upon in relation to its use in the language theory of John L. Austin (1975), whose

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> American feminist writer bell hooks relates power and politics specifically back to the cultural when she writes that 'Vigilant insistence that cultural studies be linked to a progressive radical cultural politics will ensure that it is a location that enables critical intervention" (hooks 1991: 9)

work Derrida (1988) had also used in his conceptualisation of the term.

Butler is one of the key theorists of gueer theory, a term first used by Teresa de Lauretis in 1990 (Halperin 2003), and an area of study that first emerged from post-structuralist critical theory. While a complex and contested field, it initially critiqued issues of sexual identity and the construction of normative ideology as well as the notion that categorisations of gender and sexuality are fixed. In addressing ideas of sexual and gendered identity within this body of work, the development of gueer theory has had an impact upon my approach, even though I have not explicitly explored the complexities of the subject. It would be more accurate to describe my work as sitting within the crossover between lesbian and gay studies and queer studies where they form a part of the broad church that is cultural studies. This position is noted by visual culture and fashion theorist Malcolm Barnard, in a section of his overview of fashion studies in which he outlines contributions to work on identity: 'Within what has become known as "queer studies", Shaun Cole's (2000) Don We Now Our Gay *Apparel* is probably the best source for a cultural historical account of gay men's dress' (2012: 414).

Queer theory built upon both queer studies and women's studies, developing the challenges that feminists posed to the idea that gender is a part of the essential self.<sup>24</sup> Significant in this debate is the fact that McRobbie has described Butler's work as 'feminist cultural studies' (2005: 69) and how, therefore, Butler's theories and propositions have underpinned recent approaches to cultural studies from a feminist perspective that has fed into Butler's contribution to queer studies and theory. The notion raised by Butler

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Longhurst *et al* have noted that 'feminist accounts of the role of culture in gender inequality' have, 'been central to the development of cultural studies' (2008: 820) and in *Off-Centre: Feminism and Cultural Studies* (1991) Franklin *et al* elaborate upon the similar concerns of feminism and cultural studies: a critical stance on more established disciplines such as sociology; connections with social and political movements outside academia; a desire to produce knowledge of, and by, oppressed and marginalised groups.

that we perform both sex and gender <sup>25</sup> and that therefore femininity and masculinity is performed offers a particular theoretical approach that follows and underpins ideas of exploration around the subject of masculinity, or masculinities, an area which I have explored in this body of work. For example, my analyses of gay hyper-masculine dress styles in 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' (2008) and the overtly feminine hairstyles of certain gay men and gay male grooming rituals in 'Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality' (2008) both start from the notion that sex and gender are performed.

### 2.3.3. Masculinities

Informed by feminist writings and addressing a perceived set of social responses by men to the rise of feminism, a branch of cultural studies-related research that explored masculinity and the male experience as something specific rather than the norm against which all other experiences were judged began in the late 1980s.<sup>26</sup> Chapman and Rutherford's *Male Order: Unwrapping Masculinity* (1988) was particularly significant in the context of the development of my body of work as it addressed fashion in relation to masculinity and the presentation of the new media construct of the new man and how this linked to ideas of feminist thought.<sup>27</sup> These debates underpin my

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> These ideas were very much a challenge to the division and distinction between sex/gender that had been prevalent in socialist feminism from the late 1960s onwards., through work such as Ann Oakley's 1974 Sex, Gender and Society. Butler was preceded in her challenge by amongst others Moira Gates and French feminist writers like Julia Kristeva and Hélène Cixous, who were influenced by psychoanalytic theory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> In 1992 British sociologist Anthony Giddens specifically noted a 'problematic "masculinity" that was being experienced for the first time by men in Western cultures and his ideas were furthered in discussion about the crisis in masculinity (Payne 1995). Giddens was not alone in writing about the male experience and contemporary masculinity, other significant works included Connell 1995; Farrell 1994; Johnson and Meinhof 1997; Metcalf and Humphries 1985; Seidler 1989. The field of study into masculinities has significantly grown since this period and as well as investigations of contemporary masculinities there has been a surge in publishing of works addressing notions of changing masculinities across a broad spread of historic periods (Adams 1995, Finucci 2003, Edwards 2006, Emig and Rowland 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> This book also featured an essay by Frank Mort preceding his 1996 work *Cultures of Consumption* that dealt with both representation and cultural economy in relation to fashion, and a jointly authored piece by Kobena Mercer and Isaac Julien that looked specifically at black masculinity and sexuality. Sean Nixon also deals with the notion of

own research, but I have been specifically concerned in this body of work with where and how sexual orientation enters these debates and how gay male sexuality occurs within and is a part of, or a separate element of, debates about masculinity, as well as how notions of gay or queer masculinities manifest themselves through dress. Relating ideas of varying masculinities both to self presentation and specific garments in historic and contemporary contexts is a theme that runs through *The Story of Men's Underwear* and ensures that masculinity is discussed specifically in relation to managed appearance and garment consumption, an area not always addressed in the range of books on masculinities, thus providing new scholarship in this field.

### 2.3.4. Representation

That explorations of ethnicity, gender, femininity and masculinity have, within cultural studies, been articulated through discussions of representation is key. Feminist sociologist Mary Evans declared in 1997 that 'gender politics were absolutely central to the very project of representation' (306-7). Barker meanwhile suggests that questions of representation are central to cultural studies through the ways in which 'the world is socially constructed and represented to and by us in meaningful ways' (2003:8). Propositions in Hall's edited 1997 volume Representation and particularly Sean Nixon's essay 'Exhibiting Masculinity' in that volume underpinned the development of my own analyses of representation, from specific investigations into gay male dress in visual and literary culture to the underexplored area of men's underwear. The last chapter of *The Story of Men's Underwear* (2010) was an exploration of the ways in which men, masculinity and the male body have been represented both in a commercial and cultural sense, returning to representation's identification as one of the five 'major cultural processes' that make up the 'circuit of culture' (du Gay et al 1997:3).28

c

cultural economy of fashion in his 2003 *Hard Looks*. This is an area that has joined together the fields of cultural studies and fashion studies.

 $<sup>^{28}</sup>$  The other elements of circuit of culture being identity, production, consumption and regulation.

### 2.4. Fashion Studies

A number of writers, including Breward (1995, 1998) and Taylor (1998, 2002), have explained how the study of clothing and fashion featured in a lowly position within the academe and museum collections, where clothing was initially collected either for its ethnographic value or to demonstrate particular qualities of the textiles from which they were made.<sup>29</sup> It has also been well documented (Breward 1998, Cumming 2004, de la Haye and Wilson 1999, Taylor 2002, 2004) that it was within the discipline of art history that historic dress was first seriously used in academia to date clothing and its representation in paintings in the post war period.<sup>30</sup>

### 2.4.1. Dress History and Dress Studies

As noted above much of the work on fashion and dress has come from more university based academic traditions of sociology and anthropology. The conference *Dress in History: Studies and Approaches* held at the Gallery of Costume at Plat Hall in Manchester in July 1997, specifically addressed the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Simultaneously costume began to be collected and studied more systematically as examples of important surviving material culture within museum collections. The development of museum costume/dress/fashion collections is dealt with in considerable detail by Lou Taylor in *Establishing Dress History* (2002) and Valerie Cumming *Understanding Fashion History* (2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Books which dealt with the specific details of historic clothing by collectors and curators such as Cecil Willet Cunnington, Phillis Cunnington, James Laver, Norah Waugh and Anne Buck, along with the Costume Society of Great Britain's journal *Costume* from 1967 reflected this growth. It was this particular form of study that was criticised. Senior Lecturer in Economic History at University College, London and Director of Pasold Fund Negley Harte deemed "backward" in 1977 in that it ignored concerns of social change, consumption and was studied completely separately to textiles, which was deemed a much more valid and academic study. In a similar vein in 1993 social and economic historians Ellen Leopold and Ben Fine criticized dress history for an over concentration on 'every flounce, pleat, button and bow' (Fine and Leopold 1993:94). Harte, however, was responsible for two innovative interdisciplinary conferences, *The Pasold Conference on the Economic and Social History of Dress* in London in 1985 and *Social Aspects of Clothing* at Tilburg in the Netherlands in 1992, which brought together scholars from old and new universities and museum curators 'for the first time' (Taylor 2002: 68).

'divergence' between object-based museum and collectors' study and 'academic' university studies of dress and fashion, 'usually based on written sources, images and statistics, but rarely on the real thing' (Jarvis 1998: 300) but was intended as a bridge building exercise. Two years earlier the Association of Art Historians Conference held its first ever 'dress stream' which brought together established pioneering scholars and new researchers to 'assess the advances' in the field and explore 'the convergence of perspectives from art and design history, sociology and anthropology' (de la Haye and Wilson 1999: 8). The chapters in the subsequent book presented a 'sample of the rich diversity and validity of various approaches and areas of enquiry now being explored by those engaged in the study of dress ' (ibid 1). Although it is not included in the submission as part of this PhD thesis, the essay – 'Invisible Men: Gay Men's Dress in Britain, 1950-1970' – that I contributed to de la Haye and Wilson's publication arising from this conference utilised the research that also fed into Don We Now, particularly the chapter that examined how, in a period of moral, social and legal objection to male homosexuality, gay men developed a system of secret semiotic signalling that allowed them to find one another whilst remaining 'invisible' to the broader society. The chapter in *Don We Now* specifically differed in that it also investigated similar practices in the United States as well as Britain, allowing me to make international comparisons and broaden the understanding of gay male semiotic practices.

In the introduction to *The Study of Dress History* Taylor notes that dress history was benefitting from new methodologies and 'innovative cross-disciplinary academic approaches' (2002: 1). It is significant, I believe, that the term used in both conferences and in Taylor and de la Haye and Wilson's books is *dress* rather than *fashion*. Of the six authors included in the 'methodology special issue' of *Fashion Theory* (1998) that emerged from the Platt Hall Conference, it was Breward who specifically and explicitly used the term fashion. In raising this I am not trying to argue that the term 'fashion' was not being used but

instead to situate the debate that leads to the current position of what is still debatably termed 'fashion studies.'31

### 2.4.2. The Turn to Fashion Studies

The move towards the explicit use of the term 'fashion' alongside, and at times synonymously with, the term 'dress', or indeed 'costume', in this theoretical and positioning context is also important in where I position myself within this debate and field. Whilst my work does discuss fashion, particularly *The Story of Men's Underwear* (2010) that examines the development of men's undergarments within the commercial contexts of the changes in fashionable clothing from the late medieval period to the present day, I initially aligned myself much more closely with the term dress, to the extent of using it in the subtitle for Don We Now Our Gay Apparel (2000), as it included not just clothing but also more broadly modifications and supplements of and to the clothed or unclothed body (Roach-Higgins and Eicher, 1992). In articulating her conception of her amalgamated term 'style-fashion-dress', Tulloch noted how the three individual terms were often mixed and used as synonyms for one another and without 'delineation of the meanings' of the three individual terms within given contexts (2010: 275), but that 'as long as the precision of their meanings are clear, they are always connected' (274).32

<sup>31</sup> Historians Giorgio Riello and Peter McNeil note that 'it was *dress* not *fashion* that was at the centre of historical attention [and] until recently, what had been central was not the study of fashion as a concept, but the study of the material forms (dress and costume) through which fashion itself was materialised' (Riello and McNeil 2010: 5), which goes someway to account for the choice of the term in these instance. Building on the success of the academic positioning of the word 'fashion,' it was specifically used in the titles of two symposia held in 2006: the Fashion Institute of Technology's annual symposium 'Museum Quality: Collecting and Exhibiting Fashion and Textiles' which 'aimed to explore the notion of "quality" in fashion' (McNeil 2008: 66); and 'Fashion Studies: Perspectives for the Future,' held to coincide with the launch of the Centre for Fashion Studies at Stockholm University which positioned 'fashion studies as more closely affiliated to cultural studies, film studies, queer and feminist theory' (McNeil 2008: 69).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Tulloch's term, and Kaiser's (2012) explicit use of it, has offered me a new possibility of considering how to think about my approach to the interrelationship between the precision and use of the individual terms in relation to this body of work but also to contemplate applying her term in future directions in, and discussions of, my research.

It is in the area of the crossover that more debate is happening and the future of 'fashion studies' lies. Riello and McNeil (2010) and Tseëlon (2010) have emphasised the richness of an area that combines a wide range of methodological approaches and has developed from connected research in and around the boundaries of other established disciplines to create an identifiable 'interdisciplinary field in its own right' (Tseëlon 2010: 9). Granata notes most recently that it is 'more precise to call the study of fashion multi-methodological rather than interdisciplinary' (2012: 75) and that the debate about whether fashion studies is a discipline or an interdisciplinary field is ongoing, as was evidenced in the discussion at Warwick University (McNeil 2010).

The legitimization of the field of dress and fashion studies is tied up in the growth of peer-reviewed journals<sup>33</sup> and the publication of anthologies and readers that deal specifically with fashion subject matter.<sup>34</sup> However, it is worth noting that the proliferation of encyclopaedias, readers and handbooks on a subject, whilst demonstrating a demand amongst readers, is not always seen in a positive light, and that this could in fact be masking a lack of new research in the field. Tseëlon (2010) has criticised the way in which these compilations and journals often seem to create or rely on certain cliques of

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Although *Fashion Theory* - to which I have contributed articles, see Curriculum Vitae, page four - is still the leading journal and *Costume* and *Dress*, the journal of the *Costume* Society of America, which began in 1975, continue to publish a broad range of articles, other newer journals address similar subject matter. Fashion Theory's sister publication, Fashion Practice (from 2009) covers contemporary design and manufacture and invites interdisciplinary investigations from design theory to the impact of technology, economics and industry on fashion practice. Critical Studies in Fashion and Beauty examines fashion and beauty systems in a critical and theoretical manner, while Film, Fashion and Consumption – to which I contributed an essay, see Curriculum Vitae, page 4 - invites investigation in the fields of film, fashion, design, history, art history and heritage and the crossovers between these fields. <sup>34</sup> Such as *Meanings of Dress* 3<sup>rd</sup> edition (2012), *The Fashion Reader* 2<sup>nd</sup> edition (2011), Fashion (2011), The Fashion History Reader (2010), The Men's Fashion Reader (2009), Men's Fashion Reader (2008), Fashion Theory: A Reader (2007), Latin American Fashion Reader (2005), and The Fashion Studies Book (forthcoming 2013), the ten volume Berg Encyclopedia of World Dress and Fashion (2010) and new 'Dress Cultures.' series of books published by I B Tauris. The existence of fashion specific strands at the conferences of the Popular Culture Association, European Popular Culture Association and Popular Culture Association of Australia and New Zealand clearly demonstrates an ever-growing international interest in the field of 'fashion studies' and its intersection with both popular and cultural studies.

writers and researchers and that particular editors return to specific sets of contributors.<sup>35</sup>

### 2.5 Conclusion

This chapter has outlined the ways in which both cultural studies and fashion studies have developed and has allowed me to situate my published body of work within and at the intersection of these fields. That the status of both fields as 'disciplines' is contested is important in the way in which I situate myself within them, taking from both areas an underpinning interdisciplinarity of methodological approach, which I will discuss in the following chapter. Cultural studies, as I have demonstrated here, has been a 'site' in which style-fashion-dress has been studied and has informed and latterly intersected with the way in which this continually growing area of study has developed. In exploring specific thematic areas of cultural studies that have informed and situated my research and by placing my research within fashion studies, as it develops from and continues to operate alongside dress studies, I have set the scene for both the discussion of the research methods I have employed and the thematic areas that form the foci of this submitted coherent body of work that will follow in Chapters Three and Four.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Similarly, in discussing cultural studies, Turner notes that we are in the age of the 'edited "handbook" with a demand for 'something between a work of reference and a textbook' with short entries or 'authoritative but synoptic' contributions to the specific field (2011: 25).

# CHAPTER 3. CRITICAL REFLECTION ON METHODS OF RESEARCH

For the purposes of this PhD submission I am not making claims that my use of methods is a new contribution to knowledge. However, it is important here to outline the ways that the methods I have chosen to employ in a scholarly fashion in my research are the tools that I have used to advance my claims to the production of new knowledge. The intellectual thrust and theoretical context of the submitted body of work are situated within a number of traditions and areas of study: sexuality, identities, subcultures, menswear and masculinity, and the dressed body. In this respect my approach to methods of research can be aligned with those of both cultural studies and fashion studies, particularly as I have taken an interdisciplinary approach within this submitted work.

In relation to my approach to interdisciplinarity it is worth noting here that pedagogist Lisa Lattuca (2003) has, informed by other works on the subject, identified four typologies of interdisciplinarity. Informed disciplinarity is where research questions are informed by theories or methods drawn from other disciplines. Synthetic interdisciplinarity occurs when research questions span disciplines and issues are identified in the intersections of disciplines or in the 'gaps' between disciplines. Transdisiplinarity, which others, such as Turner (2011), have argued is different and separately identifiable from interdisciplinarity, occurs when methods, theories and /or concepts are applied across disciplines, transcending disciplines to create an overarching synthesis. Finally, conceptual interdisciplinarity, Lattuca identifies as questions and issues that need to be answered using an assortment of disciplines, but that a critique of disciplinary understanding may operate as a motivation in the research or outcome. In light of this I would situate my own research for this body of work

within and as synthetic interdisciplinarity as it falls into the interstices of history, fashion studies, cultural studies and lesbian and gay studies.

In his 2008 book Research Methods for Cultural Studies social scientist Michael Pickering notes that the philosophy behind research within cultural studies is 'pluralist in that it advocates using mixed methods, taking an eclectic approach to research topics rather than confining research activity to any single avenue of investigation' (2008: 4). Writing in 1997 Canadian dress curator Alexandra Palmer advocated a 'multidisciplinary' methodology believing that combining an analysis of documents, including magazine and newspapers, and artefacts with oral histories, material culture analysis and theory drawn from a range of fields including 'design and social or cultural history, economic history and gender studies' led to the fullest and most productive results and understanding of dress and fashion. (1997: 302).<sup>36</sup> Following Palmer's identification of particularly useful materials for analysis, I have made the fullest use of such materials alongside other printed and visual sources, examined through both textual and image analyses and combined these with oral history to offer the fullest exploration and recounting of histories within my submitted body of work.

The various ways that pluralisation could be seen as an issue within cultural studies and how the debates about cultural studies position as a non- or undiscipline have been addressed in the previous chapter. Johnson *et al* note the history of cultural studies as a 'practice' has 'anti-disciplinary, interdisciplinary, multidisciplinary, and transdisciplinary aspects' (2004: 26). Situating my own body of published work within the fields of cultural and fashion studies has led me to take an interdisciplinary approach to my research. As such I follow the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> In the same year, in his introduction to his edited volume *Cultural Methodologies* social theorist Jim McGuigan highlights that cultural studies is 'eclectic' in its use of methods drawn from social sciences and humanities (1997:1) and in this sense interdisciplinarity is key to the methodological approach to cultural studies. Douglas Keller (1997), who contributed an essay on critical theory and cultural studies to McGuigan's edited volume, stated that cultural studies should be 'multi-perspectival' thus taking a range of perspectives from other established disciplines to create a new means of investigation.

way cultural studies theorist Pertti Alasuutari applies the concept of 'bricolage' (Lévi-Strauss 1972, Hebdige 1979) to cultural studies methodology, highlighting that a cultural studies researcher should be 'pragmatic and strategic in choosing an applying different methods and practices (Alasuutari 1995:2).<sup>37</sup> There are however two specific areas that I will explore in more depth in this chapter: oral history initially and significantly used within *Don We Now Our Gay Apparel* (2000) and analysis of texts and images that while utilised throughout the body of work were fully and specifically utilised in *The Story of Men's Underwear* (2010).

# 3.1 Lived Experiences and Oral History Testimony

In terms of a cultural studies methodology McRobbie has identified three key elements 'the empirical, the ethnographic and the experiential', with the emphasis being placed on lived experiences in which 'human subjects ... reflect on how they live through and make sense of change and their lives (1997: 170) and a recording of lived experience was key to much of my research. For *Don* We Now I conducted twenty-four oral history interviews with British gay men whose ages ranged from thirty to eighty-nine. The reflections on their own life stories, their individual engagements with fashion and dress, and their strategies for negotiating their clothed appearance within the social, moral and cultural conditions across their lives formed a vital part of my propositions about the role of dress for gay men in the twentieth century. Drawing on Arlene Stein and Ken Plummer's observation that 'there is a dangerous tendency for the new queer theorists to ignore "real" queer lives' (1994:184), queer theorist Judith Halberstam suggests an approach that combines 'information culled from people with information culled from texts' (1998: 12), a method I follow throughout this body of work.<sup>38</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Discussing bricolage in the context of youth and subcultures, John Clarke describes it as "the reordering and recontextualistaion of objects to communicate fresh meanings' (Clarke, 1976: 177).

 $<sup>^{38}</sup>$  Halberstam describes a 'queer methodology' as 'a scavenger methodology that uses different methods to collect and produce information on subjects who have been

Perks and Thompson have highlighted how oral history has been key for members of 'cultural minorities' to record 'their own interpretations of history' (2006: ix). As such the collection and use of oral history testimony or the recording of lived experience had since the days of gay liberation been a key methodological approach in redressing the balance of the previously hidden history of gay lives. Recording important personal reminiscences, particularly amongst older participants, was vital in order to ensure that their stories and experiences were not lost and forgotten, and because they formed part of a narrative of gay lives and dressed appearance. Lesbian historian Elizabeth Kennedy noted that the importance of the variety of secondary printed sources, such as letters and newspaper accounts, arose from them being based upon interviews, recollections and other first person accounts; she observed how many social historians 'have transcended the polarization between the reliability of social facts derived from written sources ... and from oral sources' (1995: 345). Throughout this body of work there has been a similarity and consistency in my use of particular methods, especially in the use of oral history testimony and the recording of the experience of purchasing and wearing clothing in relation to the expression of minority identities in late twentieth and early twenty-first century Britain, alongside other sources identified by Kennedv.39

Cultural historians Geraldine Biddle-Perry (2005), Clare Lomas (2000, 2007) and Taylor (2002) have all investigated and advocated the importance of oral history in the recounting of fashion/dress history. Lomas (2000) includes my own approach alongside those of Barbara Burman, Frank Mort and Angela

-

deliberately or accidentally excluded from traditional studies' attempting to 'combine methods that are often cast as being at odds with each other, and it refuses the academic compulsion towards disciplinary coherence' (1998: 13)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> For example, all of the clothing displayed in the *Black British Style* exhibition was supported by statements from the wearers (or sellers where outfits were compiled for the exhibition) following an oral testimony tradition – something Lou Taylor highlighted as a strength in her review in *Costume* (2005). Liz Mason, in her review of the exhibition in *Art Design and Communication in Higher Education* identified that 'the curatorial and academic analysis evident in this exhibition … spoke to a wide academic audience and could have been used as a methodological model' (2005: 76).

Partington in addressing its value to fashion history. In her 2007 essay that specifically deals with gay men, masculinity and shopping, Lomas again invokes my work, this time specifically citing my investigations into Vince Man's Shop and Carnaby Street in *Don We Now* to situate her own oral history approach. This element of investigation into fashion and dress use continued in the research for other works in this submission. For the chapter 'Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality' (2008), for instance, I asked gay men to reflect specifically upon the ways in which their hair grooming practices may differ according to the parts of their body in question and in relation to the role hair played for them in sexual attraction.

Perks and Thompson (2006) highlight the importance of oral recollections in transforming history but they along with Batty (2009) and Atkinson (1998), note particular pitfalls inherent in the 'inconsistency of memory (Batty 2009:111) and the need to be aware of the 'subjective reality' of such an interpretation (Atkinson 1998: 60). Bearing this in mind I balanced my oral history reminiscences with analysis of other, admittedly still potentially subjective, written and visual sources. These visual images were selected from a combination of museum and archival holdings, those included in contemporary newspapers and magazines and personal photographs. Pairing analyses of images of hairy gay men and personal commentary on grooming practices in 'Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality' (2008) allowed for a situating of experiences in relation to the perceived and represented images of gay and metrosexual male appearance. For 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' images and descriptions of particular gay masculine subcultural styles that had been presented publicly were aligned with commentary from participants to understand the adherence and challenge to stereotyped presentations and understandings. During the research for *Don We Now* visual and textual materials, provided by interviewees or by me, were used as triggers or points of discussion in interviews to understand the subjectivity of personal experience and situate it in broader gay cultural context.

# 3.2 Analyses of Written Texts

French philosopher Paul Ricoeur (1991) argued that history-writing and fiction can be viewed as complementary narrative forms that allow the reader/researcher to grasp temporal dimensions of living and offer supporting interpretations of the social world. In assessing Ricoeur's perspective in relation to cultural studies methodologies Johnson *et al* argued that 'it is possible for fiction to be a form of history and for history to be a kind of fiction as both will offer a story of some kind, ... and will inevitably articulate a range of discourses' (2004:188-9). As such one of my methods of investigation throughout the submitted body of work has been through the use of fictional descriptions of dress. Taylor has noted how dress historians have 'used literary sources to lend accuracy and historical "feel" to their work' (2002: 90).<sup>40</sup>

Taylor's term 'literary sources' covers more than just novels and plays and encompasses period press and journals, autobiographies, diaries and letters and in *The Story of Men's Underwear* literary descriptions served to situate the ways in which men wore and responded to their undergarments, but also highlighted the ways in which such garments were described and the changes in the language associated with male underwear. The use of descriptions of dress in gay novels or novels dealing with a gay subject was also a key source in my research, first and foremost because clothing, along with adornment and demeanour, has been a primary method of identification for and of gay men. This central thesis of my investigations within this body of work was initially demonstrated in the discussions of appearance in the early chapters of *Don We Now.* The novels used fell into two categories: those written by gay men, for example Garland (1953) and Picano (1979), that, whilst fictional, often reflected a sense of autobiographical experience as a gay man; and those written by nongay authors who made observations about the ways in which the, often

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> The importance of fictional description has been highlighted in more recent works by Aileen Ribeiro (2005), Clair Hughes (2006) and Peter McNeil, Vicki Karaminas and Catherine Cole (2009).

'outsider', gay character utilised dress as a marker of identity or as tool to move forward a narrative that concerned his sexuality and relationships, including Niles (1932) and George (1963). The bringing together of lived experiences and literary sources has underpinned all of my research investigations for this body of work. In her review of *Don We Now*, Elizabeth Wilson pointed out that 'oral history and empirical textual research is given a coherence by the clear way in which [Cole] integrates debates about dress with this material' (2001:282).

Johnson *et al* have noted that the common experience of being misrepresented and misrecognised as a woman, gay man, black person, in public media or advertising 'often quite directly fuelled a kind of cultural study that interrogated dominant representations and hegemonic cultural formations' (2004:15). That cultural studies was concerned with notions of power led to many cultural studies-based investigations examining the manner in which groups such as those cited above reacted and responded to the ways which they had been unfairly or prejudicially represented. Within this submitted body of work this has manifested itself as an examination of the ways gay men adopted or reacted against overly overtly feminine stereotypes both within the media and in everyday life, though adoption of particular behavioural mannerisms and styles of dress. My examination of the ways in which gay men have been discussed and represented and the deliberate juxtaposition of the variety of printed and unpublished sources has allowed for a new reading of gay male engagement with managed appearance and dress.

Cultural theorist Lynne Joyrich has further expanded upon these concepts within a queer theory framework. She argues that while 'alignments between a politics of sexuality and politics of gender and race [are] clearly an important goal', a belief that 'sexual orientation should be made as indelibly "visible" as race and gender … carries dangerous assumptions, taking this visibility for granted and not acknowledging [sexual orientation] as itself a construction' (2009: 17). It is within this tradition that much of my work is situated and reflects and relates to the 'interdisciplinarity, inclusiveness, attention to multiple forms of power associated with the triad of class, gender and "race""

(McGuigan 1997:3). My work also adds to this notions of 'sexuality', that Mercer (1994) had also engaged with, and the ways in which they have increasingly been addressed within the fields of cultural studies and fashion studies.

# 3.3. Images and Visual Representation

As well as written representation, my work is concerned with and has drawn upon images of the dressed male body. In his essay on fashion for *The Handbook of Visual Culture*, theorist Malcolm Barnard states that "the visual has remained relatively neglected in fashion studies', noting that while there is a plethora of picture and coffee table books, 'critical analysis of the visual' is 'underrepresented' (2012: 416).<sup>41</sup>

However, imagery and the representation of the clothed body have been important to the study of fashion. Frequently whilst conducting oral testimony interviews I was shown photographs that illustrated the points that were being made or acted as triggers for discussions about particular styles and approaches that I analysed within this body of work. For me it was important and significant that *The Story of Men's Underwear* was fully illustrated with colour illustrations, in order that the reader could see the examples being described and discussed and have a fuller understanding of both the development of the garments and their representation. Images had formed an important aspect of my earliest research, and while there is a good set of arguments put forward for the importance of the examination of the object/garment (Küchler and Miller 2005, Steele 1998, Taylor 2002), in the particular areas that I have researched – gay men's dress and men's underwear – for various reasons, there have not always

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Interestingly in the introduction to her 2005 book *Fashion-Ology*, sociologist Yuniya Kawamura makes a specific point about the lack of illustration or images in her book, as she is taking a theoretical standpoint on the investigation into fashion. This is a criticism that has been levied at many books on fashion; that for a visual subject there is very little illustrative material. Fashion Historian Caroline Evans raised this as a significant issue at the 'The Future of Fashion Studies: A Fashion Network' held at Warwick University on April 30, 2009, noting how many publishers did not have budgets to pay for illustrations, and where academics were expected to cover the cost of image usage rights, these were prohibitive. See McNeil 2010.

been a vast collection of extant garments to inspect. This is not to say that there are no garments worn by gay men that could be inspected but that often the garments that were associated with particular gay males styles have not been kept by wearers. In the case of men's underwear, there are undergarments in many museum collections and some of these appear as images in *The Story of Men's Underwear*. However they tend on the whole to belong to the upper classes or were for special occasions and much everyday underwear is worn until it is no longer fit to be kept, or was not until recent years deemed to be important.

My focus has therefore often been upon images or representation of garments and clothed bodies. In *The Story of Men's Underwear*, I undertook an investigation that employed techniques of image analysis in order to understand the ways in which underwear had been represented in visual culture particularly in the twentieth century.<sup>42</sup> An in-depth examination of men's underwear advertising formed the final chapter of the book and looked at the development both in physical form of the advertisement and the juxtaposition of text and image. This chapter built upon the discussion of the development of the garments and the way in which they were worn by male consumers through an analysis of the representation of 'ideals' of male body form and masculine identity and their development since the late nineteenth century.<sup>43</sup> My ongoing interest and in, and examination of, visual representation outside of the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> The use and inclusion of photography and film in the *Black British Style* exhibition as a tool to enliven the garments and articulate the particular ways in which black Britains wore garments led me towards an even greater investigation into, and use of, visual representation in my research.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> It is also worth noting here that, although it is not a part of this PhD submission, I did undertake a research project that dealt specifically with ideas of the visual, during 2004 that manifested itself in *Dialogue: Relationships in Graphic Design* (2005). This investigation into the ways in which graphic designers collaborate to produce their end product offered me a new perspective into visual culture that subsequently informed the way in which I considered visual materials. In terms of methodology for this book, I undertook a series of in-depth semi structured interviews with twenty-three designers, their collaborators and clients, continuing my interest in oral testimony and the verbally related experience.

scope of this submitted body of research will be addressed in the conclusion to this thesis.

### 3.4. Conclusion

This chapter has outlined the methods of research I undertook to produce the submitted body of work and has situated my use of the combination of these methods within the existing literature on their uses. The combining of methods that is common within the fields of cultural studies and fashion studies as well as those that have been utilised in the revealing of hidden gay history has been integral to undertaking the research for this submitted body of work. This work has identified specific 'gaps' in these fields, particularly related to the dressed male body and identities, and use or lack therein of the importance of visual imagery, and as such utilised the above discussed methods to draw out the stories and propositions that contributed to scholarship. The following chapter will review and reflect upon the themes that have run through my submitted body of work, and that have been drawn out through the employment of the above-identified methods of research.

# CHAPTER 4. REFLECTION AND REVIEW OF THE DEVELOPMENT OF THEMES WITHIN THE SUBMITTED WORKS

This chapter will critically examine and reflect on the five major themes that I have explored within my submitted published works: sexuality; identities and dress; subcultural formations; men's dress and masculinities; and clothes and the body. These subsections will each articulate how I have addressed these themes in my own writing and how these works have sat in relation to other works on these subjects to demonstrate how my work has furthered the development of these areas of study.

# 4.1. Sexuality

The work by historians and sociologists such as Jeffrey Weeks (1985, 1991a) and Alan Sinfield (1994, 1998) in the UK and George Chauncey (1995) in the United States dealt with the history of sexuality, and for my work this tied closely to the work that had redressed the balance of previously hidden histories. At the point at which my research began there was a clear interest in the gay lived experience and the fact that the research for *Don We Now Our Gay Apparel* (2000) initially stemmed from that undertaken for the Streetstyle exhibition (1994-5) meant that my research was grounded in subcultural investigations.

My initial research for *Don We Now* was situated within a tradition of lesbian and gay studies, that had been pioneered by scholars such as Karla Jay (1972) Jonathan Katz (1992[1976]), Weeks (1985, 1991a, 1991b) and Martin Duberman, Martha Vicinus and George Chauncey (1991). The mid to late 1990s saw an increase in academic research and publications in lesbian and gay studies and the field was expanded to lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender

studies, as discussed by sociologist Joshua Gamson (2000). <sup>44</sup> Media arts theorist Mandy Merck has identified one of the differences between lesbian and gay studies and queer studies/theory as their academic sites of development, where the former were 'pioneered in Anglo-American departments of history and social studies' and the latter 'driven by critical theorists in literature, visual culture and rhetoric' (2005: 188-9). This reflects the two aspects of interest in my approach and methods: historical investigation, and the visual representation and textual descriptions of male dress and identity, discussed in the previous chapter.

My book chapter 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' (2008) specifically examined the ways in which certain groups of gay men explored their sexual identity through the adoption of hyper-masculine clothing signifiers and forming of subcultural groups, as discussed in Chapter One, broadening *Don We Now* concern with gay identity to explore broader relations to contemporary masculinities. Whilst offering an historic exploration of the ways in which gay men have managed and presented their head hair to articulate a particularly effeminate form of masculinity, the chapter 'Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality' examined the comparative grooming practices of gay and straight men in a post metrosexual world and in this way links to the analysis of presentations of the sexualised male body in underwear advertising in the final chapter of *The Story of Men's Underwear* (2010).

Although queer theory had emerged in the early 1990s, the expansion of its application in research in the twenty-first century has had an impact upon the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> By the fourth edition of the *Handbook of Qualitative Research* (Denzin and Lincoln 2011) in which this essay appeared it had been replaced by an essay entitled 'Critical Humanism and Queer Theory: Postscript 2011: Living With the Tensions' by sociologist Ken Plummer, who has written extensively on sexuality.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> In both editions of his key work *Masculinities* (1995, 2005) R.W. Connell addresses the relationship between gay male sexuality and masculinities, and I acknowledge that while I have split them up for the purposes of this exploration of themes in my work, there is a very close relationship between the two areas. In this body of work I was particularly concerned with the ways in which gay men have articulated their sexual orientation and masculinity, to conform to or react against hegemonic masculinities (Connell 1995, 2005) and specifically gay approaches to the performance of masculinity or male femininity.

way in which sexuality and identity has been critically engaged with and debated in light of this theoretical standpoint. This has inevitably informed the ways in which my critical engagement with subject matter has developed, as previously noted.

# 4.2. Identities and Style-Fashion-Dress

As indicated in Chapter One my investigation into identities and dress began with *Don We Now* where the primary thesis was to investigate how gay men used particular clothing choices to make statements about their sexuality and identity. Barnard has noted that the construction and communication of identity through clothing choices is 'absolutely central to a lot of work in fashion studies' (2012: 412) and as such my interest positions me within, and aligns me to, that aspect of fashion studies. It is a marker of the development of my understanding of the breadth and complexity of the subject that I have moved from the use of the singular 'identity' in *Don We Now* to the plural in reflecting upon my work in this area. In the chapter 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag', for example, I examine how certain gay men affiliate themselves with specifically gay subcultural groups but that it is not only their sexual orientation but also their class, race and economic situation (Grossberg 1996, 2010) that impact upon their context-specific understandings of their identities. Kaiser (2012) explicitly points out the coming together of a variety of subjectivities and subject positions that create not one identity for an individual but a series of coexistent identities, 'made up out of partial fragments' that 'can be seen as either historical or constitutive' (Grossberg 1996: 91).

Of particular concern in my earliest work, I realise in retrospect, are the concepts explored by sociologist Fred Davis (1992): notions of ambiguity and ambivalence run through many of the dress choices that I examine in my body of work. These are supplemented by other sociological propositions around ideas of authenticity and artifice, initially undertaken by Richard Sennett in *The Fall of Public Man* (1977) and later expressly related to fashion by Entwistle

(2000). In this body of work I was specifically concerned with these notions in relation to the 'performance' of masculinity and the negotiations around class undertaken by gay men. These considerations of social class also opened up discussions within my work on the place of imitation and differentiation (Simmel 1957). I have dealt with this specifically in examining how gay men have looked to, as well as undermined, hegemonic male fashions, exploring the ways in which they have striven to blend into the heterosexual mainstream and broader gay community, as well as to stand out and specifically present an individual gay or queer appearance.

Although traditional class based theories of fashion, particularly around the trickle down theory have been challenged by, amongst others Herbert Blumer (1969), Elizabeth Wilson (1985) and Ted Polhemus (1994), there was still an important element to be considered in the way in which gay men interpreted class based styles or negotiated their own class(less) identity through their dress choices, as has been outlined earlier in Chapters One and Two. Importantly in *Don We Now* and 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' I examined the authenticity of participants in working-class related 'subcultures' such as skinheads, bears and scallys and the ways in which gay men have been able to move between classes, particularly aided by their adoption of specific class identified garments.

In Chapter Two, I have already reflected upon my use of the term *dress* in relation to this body of work and how these terms are used more broadly by other scholars, but it is worth reiterating my reliance upon the term when discussing my approach to gay men and their clothing in my work. While I have touched on 'fashion', i.e. the place of clothing within a 'fashion system' (Barthes 1983, Vinken 2005, Kawamura 2005), this is an area that I have not given the fullest of attention to in relation to gay men. Indeed the role of gay men within the fashion industry, while often referenced or alluded to, has not been studied in any great depth.<sup>46</sup> I was interested in how gay men were perceived to be

 $<sup>^{46}</sup>$  A notable exception being Ross Higgins 1998 work on gay men in the fashion industry in Montreal in the 1950s and 1960s. This area is also being explored in the

ahead of fashion or to set trends that were then copied by their heterosexual counterparts. 'Fashion' is a term that is much more relevant to, and utilised within, *The Story of Men's Underwear*, where I critically engage with changing fashions in men's undergarments through the social and technological developments that affected the design, manufacture and consumption of male undergarments and the place of these within men's fashion more broadly.

The significance of my published work on gay male dress and identity, as well as that on men's underwear, has also been noted by Valerie Steele, Director of The Museum at Fashion Institute of Technology (FIT) in New York in her invitation to contribute to the book which will accompany her 'A Queer History of Fashion' exhibition at FIT in autumn 2013: 'Since your books – *Don We Now Our Gay Apparel* and the *Underwear* book – are so important, we'd be honored to have you contribute to our book' (Steele to Cole 2012. See Appendix B).<sup>47</sup>

In *Don We Now* I was particularly concerned with the engagement of 'gay' teenagers in traditional recognised subcultural groups. Drawing on sociologist Michael Brake's comment that 'Subcultural studies of youth never mention homosexuals' (1985: 11) and journalist Murray Healy's 1996 investigation into gay skinheads, I was particularly interested in the ways in which teenagers who were beginning to deal with, accept or deny their sexual orientation, did so through dress practices. Also of particular interest for me in relation to age was the 'myth' or idea that the majority of gay men were/are at great pains to hold onto their youth or present a youthful image despite their age. It is worth noting that there has been some investigation into the 'myth' that gay culture perpetuates a desire for an eternal youth (Signorile 1998, Harris 1999, Bergling 2004) and that in terms of behaviour and appearance gay men do not act or dress in an age appropriate fashion. Halberstam raises the issue of age, specifically in relation to the ways in which youth cultures have been seen as

exhibition 'A Queer History of Fashion' at Fashion Institute of Technology (FIT) in New York in September 2013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> The fact that Steele will be curating the first international exhibition on gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgender and queer (GLBTQ) fashion and style at a major museum and publishing an accompanying book demonstrates a renewed interest in the underresearched area of gay male style and dress.

'stages on the way to adulthood' (2003: 328) and invokes a notion of 'queer time' to situate queer subcultural participants outside of normative heterosexual temporality structured by reproduction, making queer subcultural participation a life-long commitment rather than a life stage (2005: 152-187). I examine these concerns in 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' and 'Hair And Male (Homo) Sexuality' (2008), particularly in relation to the muscle culture that became synonymous with the Western gay 'scene' from the early 1990s onwards and the emergence and development of the bear 'subculture'.

### 4.3. Subcultures and Subcultural Formations

As noted in Chapters One and Two, my Streetstyle exhibition research report was the initial basis of the research that underpinned Don We Now. As such I grounded much of that initial research in the idea that gay male dress was subcultural -following definitions set by the CCCS researchers, particularly the premise that subcultures were a 'compromise solution between two contradictory needs: the needs to create and express autonomy and difference from parents ... and the need to maintain the parental institutions' (Cohen 1997, 91) - in that certainly up until the late 1980s, gay men were, in certain aspects of their life, operating outside the main or dominant culture and that their dress was a means of setting them apart and making them identifiable through certain widely understood or more secretive dress indicators. I was also particularly interested in the ways in which gay men operated or negotiated their identities through engagement with recognised youth subcultures and in highlighting the formative role that gay men had played in the development of certain subcultures, such as New Romantics and Goths, even if there was no intention to make them into predominantly gay subcultures, and sexual orientation was arguably in some ways incidental. This interest has continued throughout this submitted body of work.

The published work that has examined subcultures and subcultural styles is broad and complex. It is beyond the scope of this thesis to discuss all of these

works and the development of the study of subcultures, which is dealt with in works such as *The Subcultures Reader* (1997, 2005) and Ken Gelder's *Subcultures: Cultural Histories and Social Practice* (2007). However, this section will examine my own engagement with subcultures and the acknowledged and recognised theoretical approaches that have been taken to describe, discuss and explain subcultural practice and style. In light of the above introductory setting out of the origins and starting point of my own published body of work the key questions that underpin my work in relation to the study of subcultures are: Where are the queers in subcultures?; Are gay men subcultural?; Are particular gay styles subcultural?

Gelder's inclusion and discussion of historical gay and lesbian subcultures in both his 2007 *Subcultures* and the second edition of *The Subcultures Reader* (2005) clearly demonstrate an attempt to redress the former imbalance, that I identified in the introduction to *Don We Now* (2000) where gay men and lesbians were left out of studies of subcultures. Although I did pay attention to the adoption of subcultural identities by, and the place of, young gay men within subcultures, my propositions around the existence and identification of dress styles within gay subcultures were not solely predicated on the idea of youth involvement. My ongoing analysis of gay male subcultural practices in this submitted body of work, has identified how, within the context of nonheteronormative behaviours and identities, age does not necessarily form a conditional factor for 'subcultural' involvement, for example although bear culture, addressed in *Don We Now*, 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' (2008) and

\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> This was also identified by Brake in specific relation to young people, and so furthering the association of the young with subcultures, that 'young gay people are swamped by the heterosexism emphasis they find in peer groups and subcultures' (1985:11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Again Gelder (2007) is useful here in his articulation of the presence of, and writing about, historical subcultures that were not necessarily predicated on youth. It is also worth noting here that when the term youth subculture is discussed it most often refers to teenage years into the early twenties, and recently published work such as Bennett and Hodkinson's *Ageing and youth culture: music, style and identity* (2012) question the age specifics of subcultural affiliations, how youth cultures develop when the participants age and the increasing presence of "'post-youth' cultural territor[ies]" (2012: 6). Jodie Taylor (2012) specifically addressed the idea of post-youth participants on the queer scene in Brisbane, Australia, drawing on queer theory and marking out the importance of 'nonnormative' and non-heteronormative aging and behaviour that she identifies in this queer scene.

'Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality' (2008), was originally predicated on the acceptance of the aging male body, subsequent subcategories have allowed for an engagement regardless of age.

Halberstam, has also raised issues of the 'queer' within subculture, noting '[q]ueer subcultures illustrate vividly the limits of subcultural theories that omit consideration of sexuality and sexual styles' and how queer subcultures are even less easily located in relation to 'so-called parent cultures' as they question the very definition of parent cultures and the relations to 'cultural expression' within and outside any cultures that could be identified as hegemonic and/or 'parent' (2003: 320). In relation to age and 'subcultural' or subgroup affiliation within gay culture, I have, particularly in Don We Now, analysed the ways in which gay men pass through certain stages, especially one of the display of overt femininity through behaviour and dress, as a means of establishing and articulating the gay/queer aspect of an individual's identity. While it would be tempting here to talk about the establishing and articulating of identity, I bear in mind the work that has discussed how each individual is made up of a potential series of identities and that these are culturally, temporally and spatially manifested in different ways at different times, hence my use of 'gay/queer aspect'. Similarly in relation to notions of age and the fact that initially work on subcultures focussed upon youth subcultures. In both *Don* We Now and 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag', I have examined aspects of gay dress and gay subcultural affiliation that has manifested in a pursuit of a youthful appearance, particularly that associated with gay muscle and circuit club cultures, drawing on the work of such authors as Daniel Harris (1999) and Michelangelo Signorile (1997).

One of the concepts that has underpinned my examination of how gay men have dealt with identity is that, whilst we could argue that we are post-, after, or beyond subculture (Muggleton 2000, Muggleton and Weinzierl, 2003, Bennett and Kahn-Harris, 2004, Huq, 2006), the fact that gay culture is now perceived as hegemonic in its own right - rather than being 'subcultural' as argued previously by the likes of Weeks (1991b) and Bray (1982) - has led particular

groups of gay men to create new masculinised 'subcultures', such as those I investigate in my 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' chapter, within and opposed to a more mainstream gay culture. This relates back to original observations (Hebdige 1979, Hall and Jefferson 1976) that defined subcultures in opposition to and against 'mainstreams' and to the way in which I have argued that gay men's dress choices and creation of, and participation in, subcultural groups could be seen both as a marker of collective identity and resistance, reflecting Simmel's ideas of fashion as a combination of differentiation and imitation (1957).

That the work of sociologist Michel Maffesoli (1996) has been influential in subcultural studies has perhaps most clearly manifested itself in his definition and use of the term 'tribes' and has been used in relation to predominantly gay groupings by participant observer commentators such as Geoff Mains (1984) and Peter Hennen (2008) in their work on Leathermen. Although I do not specifically use the term tribes, I do acknowledge how this term can be applied and utilised in relation to my work. Schofield and Schmidt (2005) created a tribal tree diagram of gay male styles in which the 'tribal labels' were derived from terms I used in *Don We Now* alongside terms used by their participant interviewees. They subsequently cite my work on subcultural formations to elaborate on community, shared tribal and individual identities that gay men express through dress.

In her review of *Don We Now* for the *Journal of Material Culture* (2002) social anthropologist Sophie Woodward observed that the 'particular virtue of the book' is that 'Cole understands gay men in relation to and often overlapping with mainstream and other subcultures' (2002:347). The blurring and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Peter Hennen also significantly investigates Bear and Radical Faerie tribes or subcultures, which reflect areas that I have investigated in relation to gay men and style. <sup>51</sup> Ross (2010) further utilised this interpretation of my work to define different gay audiences for her study of customization and websites, as well as specifically mentioning my exploration of the 1970s Clone subculture in *Don We Now*. That this chapter of *Don We Now* has been heavily used and cited in others works clearly provides evidence of the impact of the submitted body of work in the fields of fashion and cultural studies. See appendix A for list of citations of my published works in that of others.

breakdown of boundaries and distinctions between dominant mainstream cultures and subculture due to the 'plurality of lifestyle sensibilities and preferences' (Bennett and Khan-Harris 2004: 47) continued to be an area of interest in works included in this submission. The book chapters 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' and 'Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality' both also began to address the notions that sexuality is less specified and demarcated in the twenty-first century than in the twentieth and explores crossover relationships and two-way influences in the post-metrosexual age. Along with *Don We Now*, these works situate gay male identity and dress and appearance choices within the contexts of (post)subcultural identities and heterosexual male hegemonic dress and identity.

One of the criticisms levied at traditional subcultural studies, particularly CCCS, by post-subcultural theorists rests around methods and methodology, particularly the ways in which CCCS relied upon semiotic readings that 'neglect the meaning of the subculture for its participants' (Longhurst *et al* 2008:237). New moves were to take a much more empirical approach that engages directly with subcultural participants to understand their involvement from their own perspective. It was my intention within my study of gay subcultural groupings and participation to incorporate the real lived experiences and perspectives of men involved within the identified groups, as previously discussed in Chapter Three. That the study of subcultures was an attempt to tell histories from below underpins how I have tried to redress balances of untold stories of gay male experience in relation to their dressed bodies to respond 'to the way homosexuals have been elided from historical research' (Gelder 2007: 20). This also connects to the relatively neglected study of men's underwear.

### 4.4. Men's Dress and Masculinities

This body of work has been primarily concerned with men and dress.<sup>52</sup> As Breward has noted, until the early 1990s 'historians interested in issues of manliness and their relationship to fashion seemed to be few and far between' (2010: 301). Although, as Breward also notes, there has been a considerable change in this position with men's fashion and male dress being explored by a range of scholars from a variety of disciplines, the subject is still in its adolescence and there is much work to be done to redress the imbalance between studies on male and those on female dress and fashion. The importance of the study of men's fashion in the new millennium was marked by two readers on men's fashion (Reilly and Cosbey 2008 and McNeil and Karaminas 2009), which cover a broad range of historical and contemporary approaches to the subject. The continued relevance of my research within this growing field is demonstrated by the reproduction of the chapter on the development of the gay clone from *Don We Now* in McNeil and Karaminas (2009) and a newly commissioned essay, 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag,' in Reilly and Cosbey (2008).

As I argued in *Don We Now*, gay male dress has been marked by a vacillation between masculine and feminine and in his 2011 work *Fashion in Focus*, Edwards cites my research which he describes as a 'detailed study of the diversity of "gay" styles' (108), that discusses the association between masculinity and femininity in gay men's dress. 'Hair And Male (Homo) Sexuality'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Through exploring how notions about subcultural and mainstream identity, the relationship between music and dress and the negotiations of everyday dress choice could be presented in the context of a multicultural Britain in the *Black British Style* exhibition, I became aware of how my previous work, particularly *Don We Now* had focussed upon a white gay male experience. This was at the time partly due to a reluctance on the part of any non-white gay men to discuss their dress choices in relation to their sexual orientation for various cultural reasons, but is something that one section of 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' (2008) attempted to redress and that certainly deserves greater exploration, in the light of publications such as those by Reid-Pharr (2001) and McBride (2005).

(2008) also specifically examined the ways in which some gay men feminised their appearance through their hair. The subcultural post-queer revival of an overtly feminised or gender –fuck based appearance is worth exploring further, especially in light of the appearance of new 'sensitive' male 'types' such as the metrosexual, as these are all indicators of the ongoing complexity of discussions around masculinity, which Edwards (1997, 2006) has situated historically, culturally and sociologically. I continued my analysis and situating of the metrosexual in *The Story of Men's Underwear* (2010) as the fluid boundaries of what constitutes late twentieth and twenty-first century masculinity can be explored through the consumption of underwear and its advertising. <sup>53</sup>

The Story of Men's Underwear grew out of the very same imbalance between serious study of men's and women's clothing and fashion as discussed in Chapter One. In the later chapters of that book I return to my particular interests in masculinity and male sexuality and how these are negotiated through both the wearing and in the advertising of such garments.

# 4.5. Clothes and the Body

This body of work is also significant in one other area – the direct and close relationship between clothing and men's bodies. While I have seemingly created a division between these ideas and those raised at the beginning of my earlier outline of dress and identities, the two are in fact closely linked. Indeed, Entwistle states, gender and sexuality are closely related to identity and the body and these need to be considered together producing an understanding of 'situated bodily practice' (2000: 5). As noted in Chapter One, gay men's bodily management and relationship with their body, face and head hair and relation to perceived notions of masculinity addressed in 'Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality', was situated within Butler's notions of gender performance and performativity (1990). Synnott's theories of the oppositional nature of hair

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Also, significantly two of the best-known manifestations of the metrosexual, footballers David Beckham and Freddie Ljungberg, have both appeared as underwear models and such images of each of them are analysed in *The Story of Men's Underwear*.

(1993) were also relevant here and fitted with an overarching theme of investigation in my body of work on oppositional binaries that are apparent within dress, the body and identity. This exploration enabled me to articulate the ways in which men consciously and unconsciously conform or react against hegemonic masculinities (Connell 1995). I was then able to develop this further in *The Story of Men's Underwear* to situate the relationship between the clothed and semi-clothed male body and perceptions of maleness.

The investigation of men's undergarments in *The Story of Men's Underwear* is inevitably connected to the male body; they touch the body most intimately and provide a form of protection both to and from the body and while, unlike much of women's underwear, they have not traditionally been primarily about supporting the shape of outer clothes or manipulating the body shape, they have increasingly in the late twentieth and early twenty-first centuries been designed to offer a sense of body management seemingly reducing or enhancing elements of the male physique. In this respect male underwear is inextricably linked with ideas of eroticism and sexual attractiveness to the opposite and same sex.

The subject of advertising men's underwear was the focus of the last chapter of the book and as such draws on notions of representation of the body and investigates the negotiations around how to represent these intimate garments whose presentation fell into the interstice between the fully clothed man and the male nude, thus questioning what constitutes a clothed or dressed body (Entwistle 2000, Entwistle and Wilson 2001, Calefato 2004). The thematic arrangement of this final chapter of the book addressed specific locations or scenarios in which the male body was presented and the male types that were being presented: the statue, the sportsman, the 'rock' and the 'languid leaner' (Bordo 2000). For parts of this investigation my proposals were situated in light of discussions around the media construction of the new man in the 1980s (Edwards 1997, Mort 1996, Nixon 2003), the metrosexual and the increasing visibility of the male body, gay and straight, in both niche and mainstream

marketing and advertising: something that was also considered in the other three works in this submission but with a different emphasis.

My concern with the materiality of the 'garment' as well as men's relationship to their clothes was first explored in *Don We Now*, continued through 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' and was more fully expanded upon in *The Story of Men's Underwear*. <sup>54</sup> I had dedicated a chapter of *Don We Now* to the ways in which gay men had made choices about their underwear and swimwear, and the semiclothed gay male body was an underpinning presence in parts of the 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' and the 'Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality' book chapters.<sup>55</sup> As noted above, *The Story of Men's Underwear* engaged with the body but also addressed the design and manufacture of men's undergarments and the developmental changes from the middle ages to the present day. This previously underexplored subject was situated within the ever-growing field of work around masculinity and men's fashion that had previously been the poor relation in terms of study and academic approaches. The increase in work on men's dress, identity and consumption by writers such as Breward (1999), Edwards (1997, 2006), Jobling (2005), Mort (1996) and Nixon (2003) also offered a tradition in which to situate my approach to my exploration of the clothed male body, dress and fashion and to push it forward into a more coherent situated investigation that manifested itself in this body of work, as well as the subsequent publications that I will discuss in the thesis' conclusion.

## 4.6 Conclusion

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> The staging of the *Black British Style* exhibition as well as the underpinning research had been concerned with the physicality of the body and its presence (or absence) and representation, a key concern within curation of fashion and dress exhibitions. The 'identity' of wearers was still a very real concern within *Black British Style* the collection and consideration of garments, as it had been for the *Streetstyle* exhibition (de la Haye and Dingwall 1996). This exploration while not part of this submission was key in my ongoing engagement with this concern.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> This had also led to an investigation into the history of jockey shorts, published in *Encyclopedia of Clothing and Fashion* (Steele 2005).

This Chapter has outlined the five thematic investigations – sexuality, identities, subcultures, masculinities and the clothed body – which have been central to this body of work and has also served to tie the four individual pieces together as a cohesive investigation. While these themes have been addressed separately in this chapter there is a crossover between and within each of these themes and it is the way in which these themes have been woven through this submitted body of work that renders this work a significant and unified contribution to scholarship and new knowledge.

## CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSION

This critically reflective review has provided an overview of the submitted body of work, and its constituent parts, and argued for its cohesiveness as a single body of work, its originality, importance and contribution to scholarship in the fields of fashion studies and cultural studies. Although each of the four individual submitted works had particular aims and objectives that were pertinent at the time of research and publication, as described in Chapter One, they are all connected through the overarching aims of this submission 'Sexuality, Identity and the Clothed Male Body'. These aims were: to explore the influence of sexuality and masculinity of men's dress choices and managed appearance; to examine the presentation of the clothed male body in relation to male sexuality and; to analyse the developments of undergarments in relation to technical, cultural and social factors.

Thematically this body of work has explored male sexuality, specifically that of gay men, in the context of lesbian and gay studies, queer studies, fashion studies and cultural studies. As Chapter One outlined, Don We Now Our Gay Apparel (2000) was the first book to specifically and comprehensively deal with gay men and dress, filling a void in existing literature, as noted by McNeil (2004), Wilson (2001) Woodward (2002) and Taylor (2004). Its ongoing relevance and importance in the above mentioned fields and the impact it has exercised on other people's approach is evidenced by the scope of citations and references that are made in published works, outlined in Appendix A. The breadth of this impact is visible through the range of subjects addressed by these authors, from sexuality and gay history, through gendered manifestations of identity to contemporary consumption habits and practices. Similarly, *The Story of Men's Underwear* (2010) was the first full and comprehensive history of men's underwear that, while drawing on the existing publications dealing with men's undergarments, brought together the design, manufacture, merchandising, representation and consumption of men's underwear in one volume, as discussed in more detail in the first chapter of this thesis.

Chapter One of this thesis provides a summary of the two book chapters which make up this body of work: 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag' and 'Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality' both published in 2008. It also presented a case for the interrelationship of the four pieces of work and argued for their cohesiveness as one body of work, initially through the visible expressions and articulations through men's fashion and dress choices and the managed appearance. It explains how the articulation of binary oppositions, and reactions and resistances to hegemonic impositions in male dress has run through the body of work, presenting a connecting thread. The body of work also significantly addresses areas of previously hidden history, initially that of gay men and their appearance, but also to the 'invisibility' of men's underwear both in terms of the actual garment and the articulation of its history and cultural positioning in academic writing. Breward (2010) has noted the changes and growth in the study of men's fashion and dress over the seventeen years in which he has been working on the subject. Indeed my own body of work has been a part of this increase in the number and variety of explorations into men's 'style-fashiondress' (Tulloch 2010). My ongoing engagement with research into gay men's dress specifically addresses an area that was under researched and my parallel investigations and explorations into men's underwear both as garments and through representation serve to broaden the published knowledge on these subjects.

Chapter Two serves to position this submitted body of work within the fields of cultural studies and fashion studies. As well as situating this body of work within the debates and development of each field it presents a case for the intersection and cross over between the two. How four major thematic concerns of cultural studies – power and politics of identity, masculinities, representation and queer theory and studies – have developed and been engaged with in this body of work forms a central part of this chapter. A further connecting element within the body of work is my use of research methods and this is explored in Chapter Three. Here I make a case for my combining of methods, specifically the recording and use of oral history testimonies and other

recorded lived experiences and analyses of textual and visual sources. Within this chapter I also consider my interdisciplinary approach and tie this into discussions around the value and place of interdisciplinarity in both the fields of cultural studies and fashion studies.

Thematically, this body of work has explored male sexuality, specifically in parts that of gay men. Connected directly to sexuality, both broadly and specifically in this body of work, are explorations of identities and dress and masculinities. Cultural studies has offered up contextual explorations of each of these areas of investigation that have underpinned my research, but in purposely connecting them within my work I have offered a new and valuable approach to these areas and their position within cultural studies. That my work also contributes to these areas in fashion studies is clearly evidenced in Kaiser's (2012) discussion of my work. Here she uses Don We Now as a key source for, and example of, discourses linking fashion and dress to male homosexuality and how sexual orientation operates as a subject position in style-fashion-dress choices. My engagement in the field of cultural studies is also significantly marked by my recent appointment as Associate Editor of the new journal Fashion, Style and *Popular Culture* where I was specifically invited for my British and European perspectives, my curatorial background and the specific areas of knowledge that are outlined in and covered by this body of work.

An analysis of my explorations of sexuality in this body of work forms the first part of Chapter Four of this thesis, which presents the five major themes that run through the body of work. In terms of situating and arguing the importance of my own research and writing within this field and the acknowledgement of my contribution to knowledge within this field, it is worth highlighting that I was commissioned to write new essays for *Men's Fashion Reader* (2008), which is included in this body of work, the new third edition of *Meanings of Dress* (2012), entitled 'Queers and Mods: Social and Sartorial Interaction in London's Carnaby Street', and the Western Europe volume of the *Berg Encyclopedia of World Dress and Fashion* (2010).

While the relationship between sexuality and racial and ethnic identities is touched upon in this body of work, is an area that my future work on gay men's dress would specifically address. Ferhaps one of the failings of *Don We Now* was its concentration on white gay men. The Western, and especially Anglo-American focus of my published work has been predicated by access to primary sources, such as interviewees, and English and American archives, magazines, novels and diaries. In future work this is an imbalance that I would consider attempting to redress, after careful consideration of availability of primary sources.

My explorations of fashion, as opposed to dress, has subsequently been linked to an ongoing engagement, initiated in *Don We Now*, with teenage gay sexuality in the peer reviewed journal article 'Television's Fashion Gay Teens: Justin Suarez and Kurt Hummel' (2012). In this essay I explore how a keen knowledge of the fashion industry and wearing high fashion designer men's clothing is used as a means of initially identifying the two teenage television series characters as gay and subsequently as a tool for negotiating the complexities of teenage gay male identity in the twenty-first century.

Although subcultural studies has been a key component of cultural studies and has recently been marked by a critique of early studies and the emergence of post-subculture studies, my body of work has made a contribution to this debate. Tied to this area of investigation and indeed pervading my work on gay men's dress was a concern with the spatial locations in which gay men moved and the ways in which dress was worn in both private and public spaces. In *Don We Now* and 'Butch Queens in Macho Drag', I specifically addressed the nightclub as a safe private space that allowed for subcultural expressions of style. These explorations and specifically the chapter 'Express Yourself' in *Don We Now* that dealt with clubbing in the 1980s led to my being commissioned to

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> This is particularly important in the light of works such as Robert F. Reid-Pharr's *Black Gay Man* (2001), Patrick Johnson and Mae Henderson's *Black Queer Studies: a Critical Anthology* (2005) and *Why I Hate Abercrombie and Fitch* (2005) by Dwight A. McBride, as well as work that has addressed African diasporic fashion and black masculinities such as that by Van Dyk Lewis (1996, 2003) and Monica L. Miller's *Slaves to Fashion: Black Dandyism and the Styling of Black Diasporic Identity* (2009).

write an essay on the interrelationship between fashion and nightclubs in London in the 1980s for the catalogue of the V&A exhibition 'Club to Catwalk: London Fashion in the 1980s' (2013) and to act as a special advisor on the club section of the exhibition. While this essay did not specifically address gay clubs, the fluid and embracing nature of London's nightlife did mean that this constituted a significant place in this essay. Nightclubs also feature as sites for dressed expressions of sexuality in my 'Queerly Visible: Gay Men's Dress and Style 1960 – 2012' essay commissioned for the catalogue of the exhibition 'A Queer History of Fashion' exhibition at FIT in autumn 2013.

As stated above and in Chapter Four, men's dress has been the poor relation to women's fashion in terms of research and publications, but my body of work has contributed to these adjacent and interconnected areas of men's dress and masculinities and clothes and the body, as identified by Edwards (2011), Taylor (2002), and Wilson (2001). *The Story of Men's Underwear* is most obviously explicit in discussing this close physical relationship between corporeality and garments and makes a very direct link between this section of the thesis and my analyses of imagery, discussed in Chapter Two. My research into men's underwear advertising that began in *The Story of Men's Underwear* has continued and my forthcoming book chapter entitled 'Men's Underwear Advertising' that examines notions of comfort in the presentation of the underwear clad male body in advertisements in the 1940s and 1950s will be published in the edited volume Fashion Media: Past and Present, for which I am also co-editor. In this essay I am particularly interested in the relationship between the images of the clothed or absent body in the images and the language used in the text of underwear advertisements from the mid 1930s to the late 1950s. Considering how I might continue to develop my research in men's underwear there is, I believe, a research project that would more fully utilise museum collections to create a list of extant men's undergarments, building upon the research undertaken by and updating the lists created by Cunnington (1951), thus exploring in more depth the particular construction techniques and design of men's undergarments.

That *The Story of Men's Underwear* was published in French and German as well as in English means that its value as contribution to new knowledge is extended beyond the English-speaking world. As a mark of the importance of my contribution to scholarship on men's underwear I was invited to contribute an essay on new styles of underwear and notions of virility to the catalogue of the *La Mécanique des Dessous* exhibition opening at Les Arts Decoratifs museum in Paris on 5 July 2013.<sup>57</sup> A further marker of my contribution to knowledge on men's underwear has been marked by the invitation to be guest editor of an underwear themed special edition for the second issue of the journal *Critical Studies in Men's Fashion* <sup>58</sup> that will be published in 2014.

Since the publication of my groundbreaking book *Don We Now* there have been a number of new investigations into gay men's dress, in academic journals or as sections of books, that have addressed shopping and consumption habits, hyper-masculinity, and effeminacy and cross dressing, all of which have cited my own contributions to these areas. The forthcoming book *Queer Style* by Geczy and Karaminas, mentioned in Chapter One, further opens up explorations of gay male dress and contributes to the area of subcultural study and queer dress and appearance. While their book does deal with a broad range of historical and theoretical issues that explore the breadth of what could be termed queer and gay style and situates this within a subcultural framework, my own work is heavily cited, particularly in the chapter that deals with late twentieth century gay men's dress.

The major event in the public dissemination of gay male style is the forthcoming *A Queer History of Fashion* exhibition at FIT in New York in September 2013. As an acknowledgement of my exiting contribution to the subject I was invited to sit on the advisory panel for the exhibition and to write an essay, as previously noted in Chapter Four. This essay continued my explorations of the conversation between expressions of masculinity and femininity in gay men's

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> I was also interviewed as an expert on men's underwear for BBC's *One Show* in 2010 for the online magazine collectorsweekly.com and Barcelona's leading newspaper *La Vanguardia* in 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> I am on the editorial board for *Critical Studies in Men's Fashion*.

dress and, utilising fourteen new interviews with American and British gay men, explored the ways in which gay men negotiated their clothed appearance and the gay or queer aspects of their identities in the twenty-first century. While this essay looked at personal choice in fashion-style-dress of gay men, my work on visual representation will also continue, as I have been commissioned to write an essay for a special themed issue of *Fashion Theory* that will look at pornography and fashion. For this I will be examining the use of clothing in the films of the American gay porn film studio Colt and relating this to expressions of masculinity amongst gay men in the 1970s and early 1980s, thus further developing this ongoing theme in my work.

The body of work that comprises 'Sexuality, Identity and the Clothed Male Body' has articulated the complex negotiations between men, their bodies, the subject positions that make up identities, and clothing. In bringing together these areas of exploration, and by situating them within, and at the intersection of, the fields of fashion studies and cultural studies, I have hopefully been able to make a significant contribution to new knowledge. The combination of explorations of garments and their mode of consumption, along with the examination of the multiple articulations of sexualised gendered identity, has allowed me to present a fresh perspective on what Breward (2000) described as 'social identity [that] is entirely contingent on historical circumstances' with 'varied characteristics [that] work both at the level of representation and through the physical trappings of material culture' (2000: 371). I look forward to pursuing this idea further in future.

# **Bibliography**

- Abelove, H., Barale, M.A. and Halperin, D.M. eds., 1993. *The Lesbian and Gay Studies Reader*, New York: Routledge.
- Adams, J.E., 1995. *Dandies and Desert Saints: Styles of Victorian Masculinity*, Ithaca, N.Y.I; London: Cornell University Press.
- Alasuutari, P., 1995. Researching Culture: Qualitative Method and Cultural Studies, Sage.
- Altman, D., 1974. *Homosexual: Oppression and Liberation*, London: Allan Lane.
- Anderson, F., 2000. Museums as Fashion Media. In S. Bruzzi and P. C. Gibson, eds. *Fashion Cultures: Theories, Explorations, and Analysis*. London: Routledge.
- Anon, 2008. *Club Kids: From Speakeasies to Boombox and Beyond*, London: Black Dog.
- Appadurai, A. ed., 1986. *The Social Life of Things: Commodities in Cultural Perspective*, Cambridge [Cambridgeshire]: Cambridge University Press.
- Atkinson, R., 1998. The Life Story Interview, Thousand Oaks, Calif. London: Sage.
- Austin, J.L., 1975. *How to Do Things with Words* 2nd ed., J. O. Urmson and M. Sbisà, eds., Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.
- Baker, R., 1994. *Drag: A History of Female Impersonation in the Performing Arts,*New York: New York University Press.
- Barber, S.M. and Clark, D.L. eds., 2002. *Regarding Sedgwick: Essays on Queer Culture and Critical Theory*, New York, N.Y: Routledge.
- Barker, C., 2003. Cultural Studies: Theory and Practice 2nd ed., London: Sage.
- Barker, C., 2008. *Cultural Studies: Theory and Practice* 3rd ed., Los Angeles, Calif. London: Sage.
- Barker, C., 2012. *Cultural Studies: Theory and Practice* 4th ed., Los Angeles, Calif.I; London: Sage.
- Barker, M. and Beezer, A. eds., 1992. *Reading into Cultural Studies*, London: Routledge.
- Barnard, M. ed., 2007. Fashion Theory: A Reader, London: Routledge.

- Barnard, M., 2012. Looking Sharp: Fashion Studies. In M. Gardiner, I. Heywood, and B. Sandywell, eds. *The Handbook of Visual Culture*. London: Berg, pp. 405–425.
- Barthes, R., 1983. The Fashion System, New York: Hill and Wang.
- Batty, E., 2009. Reflections on the Use of Oral History Techniques in Social Research. *People, Place and Policy Online*, 3(2), pp.109–121.
- Bengry, J., 2009. Courting the Pink Pound: Men Only and the Queer Consumer, 1935–39. *History Workshop Journal*, 68(1), pp.122 –148.
- Bennett, A. and Kahn-Harris, K. eds., 2004. *After Subculture: Critical Studies in Contemporary Youth Culture*, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bennett, T., 1998. Cultural Studies: A Reluctant Discipline. *Cultural Studies*, 12(4), pp.528–545.
- Bergling, T., 2004. *Reeling in the Years: Gay Men's Perspectives on Age and Ageism*, Haworth Press Inc.
- Bersani, L., 1995. Homos, Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.
- Bhabha, H.K., 1994. The Location of Culture, London: Routledge.
- Bhattacharyya, G., 2002. *Sexuality and Society: An Introduction*, London: Routledge.
- Biddle-Perry, G., 2005. Bury Me in Purple Lurex: Promoting a New Dynamic Between Fashion and Oral Historical Research. *Oral History*, 33(1), pp.88–92.
- Boney, B., 1999. The Lavender Brick Road: Paul Bonin-Rodriguez and the Sissy Bo(d)y. *Theatre Journal*, 48(1), pp.35–57.
- Bordo, S., 2000. *The Male Body: A New Look at Men in Public and in Private*, New York: Farrar Straus Giroux.
- Brake, M., 1985. *Comparative Youth Culture: The Sociology of Youth Cultures and Youth Subcultures in America, Britain, and Canada*, London: Routledge.
- Brantlinger, P., 1990. *Crusoe's Footprints: Cultural Studies in Britain and America*, London: Taylor and Francis.
- Bray, A., 1995. *Homosexuality in Renaissance England*, New York: Columbia University Press.
- Brekhus, W., 2003. *Peacocks, Chameleons, Centaurs: Gay Suburbia and the Grammar of Social Identity*, Chicago, Ill: University of Chicago Press.

- Breward, C., 1998. Cultures, Identities, Histories: Fashioning a Cultural Approach to Dress. *Fashion Theory: Volume 2, Issue 4: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture: Special Issue on Methodology*, 2(4), pp.301–313.
- Breward, C., 2000. Letter From the Editor. *Fashion Theory: Volume 4, Issue 4: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture: Special Issue on Masculinities*, 4(4), pp.371–372.
- Breward, C., 2003. Fashion, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Breward, C., 2004. *Fashioning London: Clothing and the Modern Metropolis*, Oxford: Berg.
- Breward, C., 2010. Modes of Manliness: Reflections on Recent Histories of Masculinities and Fashion. In G. Riello and P. McNeil, eds. *The Fashion History Reader: Global Perspectives*. London: Routledge.
- Breward, C., 1995. *The Culture of Fashion: A New History of Fashionable Dress*, Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Breward, C., 1999. *The Hidden Consumer: Masculinities, Fashion and City Life* 1860-1914, Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Brill, D., 2008. Goth Culture: Gender, Sexuality and Style, Oxford: Berg.
- Bruzzi, S. and Gibson, P.C., 2000. *Fashion Cultures: Theories, Explorations, and Analysis*, London: Routledge.
- Buchbinder, D., 2004. Object or Ground?: The Male Body as Fashion. *Canadian Review of American Studies*, 34(3), pp.221–231.
- Buckland, F., 2002. *Impossible Dance: Club Culture and Queer World-Making*, Middletown, CT: Wesleyan University Press.
- Burston, P., 1995. What Are You Looking at?: Queer Sex, Style and Cinema, London: Cassell.
- Burston, P. and Richardson, C. eds., 1995. *A Queer Romance: Lesbians, Gay Men and Popular Culture*, London: Routledge.
- Butler, J., 1990. *Gender Trouble: Feminism and the Subversion of Identity*, New York and London: Routledge.
- Butler, J., 1993. *Bodies that Matter: On the Discursive Limits of "Sex"*, New York and London: Routledge.
- Calefato, P., 2004. The Clothed Body, Oxford: Berg.

- Campbell, N. and Kean, A., 1997. *American Cultural Studies: An Introduction to American Culture*, London: Routledge.
- Carter, A., 1992. *Underwear: The Fashion History*, London: Batsford.
- De Certeau, M., 1984. *The Practice of Everyday Life*, Berkeley, Calif.l; London: University of California Press.
- Chandler, J., 2009. Introduction: Doctrines, Disciplines, Discourses, Departments. *Critical Inquiry*, 35(4), pp.729–746.
- Chaney, D., 2004. Fragmented Cultures and Subcultures. In A. Bennett and K. Kahn-Harris, eds. *After Subculture: Critical Studies in Contemporary Youth Culture*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Chapman, R. and Rutherford, J. eds., 1988. *Male Order: Unwrapping Masculinity*, London: Lawrence and Wishart.
- Chauncey, G., 1995. *Gay New York: Gender, Urban Culture, and the Making of the Gay Male World, 1890-1940,* New York: Basic Books.
- Chin, T.S., 1997. "Bullers" and "Battymen": Contesting Homophobia in Black Popular Culture and Contemporary Caribbean Literature. *Callalloo*, 20(1), pp.127–141.
- Chisholm, D., 2005. *Queer Constellations: Subcultural Space in the Wake of the City*, Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.
- Clarke, J. et al., 1976. Subcultures, Cultures and Class: A Theoretical Overwiew.

  In S. Hall and T. Jefferson, eds. *Resistance Through Rituals: Youth Subcultures in Post-War Britain*. London: Hutchinson in association with the Centre for Contemporary Cultural Studies, University of Birmingham, pp. 9–74.
- Clarkson, J., 2005. Contesting Masculinity's Makeover: Queer Eye, Consumer Masculinity, and Straight-Acting" Gays. *Journal of Communication Inquiry*, 29(3), pp.235–255.
- Cleto, F. ed., 1999. *Camp: Queer Aesthetics and the Performing Subjectl!: A Reader*, Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Coad, D., 2008. *The Metrosexual: Gender, Sexuality, and Sport*, Albany, N.Y: SUNY Press.
- Cocks, H.G., 2007. Homosexuality between Men in Britain since the Eighteenth Century. *History Compass*, 5(3), pp.865–889.

- Cohen, E., 1993. *Talk on the Wilde Side: Toward a Genealogy of a Discourse on Male Sexualities*, London: Routledge.
- Cohen, J., 2003. Bear Like Me, New York: Harrington Park Press Inc.
- Cohen, P., 1997. Subcultural Conflict and Working Class Community. In K. Gelder and S. Thornton, eds. *The Subcultures Reader*. London: Routledge.
- Cole, S., 2000. Don We Now Our Gay Apparel: Gay Men's Dress in the Twentieth Century, Oxford: Berg.
- Cole, S., 2005. *Dialogue: Relationships in Graphic Design*, London: V&A Publications.
- Cole, S., 2008a. Butch Queens in Macho Drag. In A. H. Reilly and S. Cosbey, eds. *The Men's Fashion Reader*. New York: Fairchild.
- Cole, S., 2008b. Hair and Male (Homo) Sexuality: 'Up Top and Down Below'. In G. Biddle-Perry and S. Cheang, eds. *Hair: Styling, Culture and Fashion*. Oxford: Berg.
- Cole, S., 2010. The Story of Men's Underwear, New York: Parkstone International.
- Cole, S., 2012a. Queers and Mods: Social and Sartorial Interaction in London's Carnaby Street. In P. Hunt-Hurst, K. A. Miller-Spillman, and A. Reilly, eds. *The Meanings of Dress*. New York: Fairchild Publications, pp. 214–22.
- Cole, S., 2012b. Television's fashion gay teens: Justin Suarez and Kurt Hummel. *Film, Fashion and Consumption*, 1(2).
- Collins, L., 2010. Dept. of Foundations: Skivvies 101. *The New Yorker*, December 13, pp.34–35.
- Colomina, B. ed., 1992. *Sexuality and Space*, New York: Princeton Architectural Press.
- Connell, R., 1995. Masculinities, Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Connell, R., 2005. *Masculinities* 2nd ed., Cambridge: Polity.
- Constantine-Simms, D. ed., 2001. *The Greatest Taboo: Homosexuality in Black Communities*, Los Angeles, CA: Alyson Books.
- Cook, M., 2003. "A New City of Friends": London and Homosexuality in the 1890s. *History Workshop Journal*, 56(1), pp.33 –58.
- Cook, M., 2003. *London and the Culture of Homosexuality, 1885-1914*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Craik, J., 1994. *The Face of Fashion: Cultural Studies in Fashion*, London: Routledge.
- Craik, J., 2009. Fashion: The Key Concepts, Oxford: Berg.
- Crane, D., 2000. *Fashion and its Social Agendas: Class, Gender, and Identity in Clothing*, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Crane, D., 2010. Cultural Sociology and Other Disciplines: Interdisciplinarity in the Cultural Sciences. *Sociology Compass*, 4(3), pp.169–179.
- Creekmur, C.K. and Doty, A. eds., 1995. *Out in Culture: Gay, Lesbian, and Queer Essays on Popular Culture,* London: Cassell.
- Crewe, B., 2003. *Representing Men: Cultural Production and Producers in the Men's Magazine Market*, Oxford: Berg.
- Cumming, V., 2004. *Understanding Fashion History*, London: Batsford.
- Cunningham, P., 1998. Beyond Artifact and Object Chronology. *Dress*, 14, pp.76–79.
- Cunnington, C.W., 1951. History of Underclothes, London: Michael Joseph.
- David, H., 1997. *On Queer Street: A Social History of British Homosexuality, 1895-1995*, London: HarperCollins.
- Davidson, G., 2005. "Contagious Relations": Simulation, Paranoia, and the Postmodern Condition in William Friedkin's Cruising and Felice Picano's The Lure. *GLQ*, 11(1), pp.22–34.
- de la Haye, A. and Wilson, E. eds., 1999. *Defining dress: dress as object, meaning, and identity*, Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Delany, S.R., 1997. Times Square Red, Times Square Blue, New York: NYU Press.
- Denning, M., 2010. *The Cultural Front: The Laboring of American Culture in the Twentieth Century* Updated ed. with a new afterword., London New York: Verso.
- Derrida, J., 1988. *Limited Inc*, Evanston, Ill: Northwestern University Press.
- Duberman, M.B. ed., 1997. *A Queer World: The Center for Lesbian and Gay Studies Reader*, New York: New York University Press.
- Duberman, M.B., Vicinus, M. and Chauncey, G. eds., 1991. *Hidden from History: Reclaiming the Gay and Lesbian Past*, London: Penguin.
- Durham, M.G. and Kellner, D. eds., 2012. *Media and Cultural Studies: Keyworks* 2nd ed., Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.

- During, S., 2005. *Cultural Studies: A Critical Introduction*, London: Routledge.
- du Gay, P. et al., 1997. *Doing Cultural Studies: The Story of the Sony Walkman*, Sage.
- du Gay, P. ed., 1997. *Production of Culture: Cultures of Production*, London: Sage in association with the Open University.
- du Gay, P. and Hall, S. eds., 1996. Questions of Cultural Identity, London: Sage.
- Dyer, R., 2002. The Culture of Queers, London: Routledge.
- Edwards, T., 1994. *Erotics and Politics: Gay Male Sexuality, Masculinity and Feminism*, London: Routledge.
- Edwards, T., 1997. *Men in the Mirror: Men's Fashion, Masculinity and Consumer Society*, London: Cassell.
- Edwards, T., 2006. Cultures of Masculinity, London: Routledge.
- Edwards, T., 2011. *Fashion in Focus: Concepts, Practices and Politics*, London: Routledge.
- Eicher, J. B., Evenson, S.L. and Lutz, H.A. eds., 2008. *The Visible self: Global Perspectives on Dress, Culture, and Society* 3rd ed., New York: Fairchild Publications.
- Emig, R. and Rowland, A. eds., 2010. *Performing Masculinity*, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- English, B., 2007. A Cultural History of Fashion in the Twentieth Century: From the Catwalk to the Sidewalk, Oxford: Berg.
- Entwistle, J., 2000. *The Fashioned Body: Fashion, Dress and Modern Social Theory,* Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Entwistle, J. and Wilson, E., 2001. Body Dressing, Oxford: Berg.
- Evans, C., 1997. Dreams that only money can buy...or, the shy tribe in flight from discourse. *Fashion Theory: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture*, 1(2), pp.169–188.
- Evans, M., 1997. *Introducing Contemporary Feminist Thought*, Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Fairclough, N., 2003. *Analysing Discourse: Textual Analysis for Social Research*, London: Routledge.
- Farrell, J., 1992. Socks and Stockings, London: B.T. Batsford Limited.

- Farrell, W., 1994. *The Myth of Male Power: Why Men are the Disposable Sex* Rev. ed., London: Fourth Estate.
- Farrelly, L., 2004. Fashion Forever: 30 Years of Subculture, London: Immprint.
- Ferguson, M. and Golding, P. eds., 1997. *Cultural Studies in Question*, London: Sage.
- Fine, B. and Leopold, E., 1993. The World of Consumption, London: Routledge.
- Finkelstein, J., 1996. *After a Fashion*, Carlton South, Vic., Australia: Melbourne University Press.
- Finucci, V., 2003. *The Manly Masquerade: Masculinity, Paternity, and Castration in the Italian Renaissance*, Durham, N.C.: Duke University Press.
- Fiske, J., 1991. *Understanding Popular Culture*, Abingdon: Routledge.
- Flynn, P., 2005. Scally Fags. Attitude, (March), pp.70–73.
- Franklin, S., Lury, C. and Stacey, J. eds., 1991. *Off-Centre: Feminism and Cultural Studies*, London: Routledge.
- Fuchs, C. and Holmlund, C. eds., 1997. *Between the Sheets, in the Streets: Queer, Lesbian, Gay Documentary*, Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Fuss, D., 1992. Fashion and the Homospectatorial Look. *Critical Inquiry*, 18(4), pp.713–737.
- Gamson, J., 2000. Sexualities, Queer Theory and Qualitative Research. In N. K. Denzin and Y. S. Lincoln, eds. *Handbook of Qualitative Research*. Thousand Oaksl; London: Sage, pp. 347–365.
- Garber, M., 1997. Vested Interests: Cross-Dressing and Cultural Anxiety, Routledge.
- Garland, R., 1953. *The Heart in Exile. A novel.*, London: W.H. Allen.
- Gauntlett, D., 2002. *Media, Gender and Identity: An Introduction*, London: Routledge.
- Gelder, K., 2007. *Subcultures Cultural Histories and Social Practice*, London: Routledge.
- Gelder, K. ed., 2005. The Subcultures Reader 2nd ed., London: Routledge.
- Gelder, K. and Thornton, S. eds., 1997. *The Subcultures Reader*, London: Routledge.
- George, Elliott, 1963. *The Leather Boys*, London.
- Gilroy, P., 1993. *The Black Atlantic: Modernity and Double Consciousness*, Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.

- Gilroy, P., 1987. "There Ain't No Black in the Union Jack": The Cultural Politics of Race and Nation, London: Hutchinson.
- Gilroy, P., 2000. *Between Camps: Race, Identity and Nationalism at the End of the Colour Line*, London: Allen Lane.
- Glick, E. et al., 2003. New Directions in Multiethnic, Racial and Global Queer Studies. *GLQ*, 10(1), pp.123–127.
- Glick, E., 2001. The Dialectics of Dandyism. *Cultural Critique*, 48(Spring), pp.129–163.
- Glick, E.F., 2003. Harlem's Queer Dandy: African-American Modernism and the Artifice of Blackness. *MFS Modern Fiction Studies*, 49(3), pp.414–442.
- Goffman, E., 1969. The Presentation of Self in Everyday Life, London: Allen Lane.
- Gorman, P., 2006. *The Look: Adventures in Rock and Pop Fashion*, London: Adelita.
- Granata, F., 2012. Fashion Studies In-between: A Methodological Case Study and an Inquiry into the State of Fashion Studies. *Fashion Theory: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture*, 14(1), pp.67–82.
- Gray, A. and McGuigan, J. eds., 1993. *Studying Culture: An Introductory Reader*, London: Edward Arnold.
- Grossberg, L., 1987. The Politics of Music: American Images and British Articulations. *Canadian Journal of Political and Social Theory*, XI (1 and 2), pp.144–151.
- Grossberg, L., 1996. Identity and Cultural Studies: Is That All There Is? In P. Du Gay and S. Hall, eds. *Questions of Cultural Identity*. London: Sage, pp. 87–107.
- Grossberg, L., 2010. *Cultural Studies in the Future Tense*, Durham, N.C.I; London: Duke University Press.
- Gunther, S., 2004. Building a More Stately Closet: French Gay Movements since the Early 1980s. *Journal of the History of Sexuality*, 13(3), pp.326–347.
- Halberstam, J., 1998. Female Masculinity, Durham, N.C.: Duke University Press.
- Halberstam, J., 2003. What's that Smell? *International Journal of Cultural Studies*, 6(3), pp.313 –333.
- Halberstam, J., 2005. *In a Queer Time and Place: Transgender Bodies, Subcultural Lives*, New York: New York University Press.

- Hall, S., 1978. *Policing the Crisis: Mugging, the State, and Law and Order,*Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hall, S., 1980. *Culture, Media, Language: Working Papers in Cultural Studies,* 1972-79 New edition., Routledge.
- Hall, S., 1980. Cultural Studies and the Centre: Some Problematics and Problems. In S. Hall et al., eds. *Culture, media, language: working papers in cultural studies, 1972-79*. London: Hutchinson, pp. 15–47.
- Hall, S., 1992. New Ethnicities. In J. Donald and A. Rattansi, eds. *"Race", Culture and Difference*, London: Sage Publications in association with the Open University, pp. 252–60.
- Hall, S., 2000. Conclusion: The Multi-cultural Question. In B. Hesse, ed. *Unsettled Multiculturalisms*. Zed Books, pp. 209–241.
- Hall, S., 2001. *The Multicultural Question*, Pavis Centre for Social and Cultural Research, Faculty of Social Sciences.
- Hall, S. ed., 1997. *Representation: Cultural Representations and Signifying Practices*, London: Sage in association with the Open University.
- Hall, S. and Jefferson, T. eds., 1976. *Resistance Through Rituals: Youth Subcultures in Post-war Britain*, London: Hutchinson in association with the Centre for Contemporary Cultural Studies, University of Birmingham.
- Halperin, D., 2003. The Normalizing of Queer Theory. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 45, pp.339–343.
- Halperin, D., 2004. *How to Do the History of Homosexuality*, Chicago, Ill: University of Chicago Press.
- Halperin, D.M. and Traub, V. eds., 2009. *Gay Shame*, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Hancock, J.H.I., 2009. Chelsea on 5 Avenue: Hypermasculinity and Gay Clone Culture in the Retail Brand Practices of Abercrombie and Fitch. *Fashion Practice*, 1(1), pp.63–86.
- Hardy, P., 1996. Glad to be Lad. *QX*, (March), pp.23–25.
- Harootunian, H.D., 2000. *History's Disquiet: Modernity, Cultural Practice, and the Question of Everyday Life*, New York, N.Y.I; Chichester: Columbia University Press.

- Harris, A. ed., 2008. *Next Wave Cultures: Feminism, Subcultures, Activism*, New York: Routledge.
- Harris, D., 1999. The Rise and Fall of Gay Culture, New York: Ballantine Books.
- Harrison, M. ed., 1998. *High Society: The Real Voices of Club Culture*, London: Piatkus.
- Hebdige, D., 1979. *Subculture: The Meaning of Style*, London: Methuen.
- Hennen, P., 2008. *Faeries, Bears, and Leathermen: Men in Community Queering the Masculine*, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Higgins, R., 1998. Fashioning Gay Community in Montreal. In A. Brydon and Sandra A Niessen, eds. *Consuming Fashion: Adorning the Transnational Body*, Oxford: Berg.
- Higgs, D. ed., 1999. *Queer Sites: Gay Urban Histories Since 1600*, London: Routledge.
- Highmore, B., 2009. *A Passion for Cultural Studies*, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hocquenghem, G., 1993. *Homosexual Desire*, Durham, N.C.: Duke University Press.
- Hodkinson, P. and Bennett, A. eds., 2012. *Ageing and Youth Culture: Music, Style and Identity*, London: Berg.
- Hodkinson, P.E., 2002. Goth: Identity, Style and Subculture, Oxford: Berg.
- Hoggart, R., 1958. The Uses of Literacy: Aspects of Working-class Life with Special Reference to Publications and entertainments, Harmondsworth: Penguin in association with Chatto and Windus.
- Hollander, A., 2000. *Feeding the Eye: Essays*, Berkeleyl; London: University of California Press.
- Hooks, B., 1990. *Yearning: Race, Gender and Cultural Politics*, Cambridge, MA: South End Press.
- Hornsey, R.Q.D., 2010. *The Spiv and the Architect: Unruly Life in Postwar London,* Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Houlbrook, M., 2002. "Lady Austin"s Camp Boys': Constituting the Queer Subject in 1930s London. *Gender and History*, 14(1), pp.31–61.

- Houlbrook, M., 2003. Soldier Heroes and Rent Boys: Homosex, Masculinities, and Britishness in the Brigade of Guards, circa 1900–1960. *The Journal of British Studies*, 42(3), pp.351–388.
- Houlbrook, M., 2005a. *Queer London: Perils and Pleasures in the Sexual Metropolis, 1918-1957*, Chicago, Ill: University of Chicago Press.
- Houlbrook, M., 2005b. Sexing the History of Sexuality. *History Workshop Journal*, 60(1), pp.216 –222.
- Houlbrook, M., 2007. "The Man with The Powder Puff" in Interwar London. *The Historical Journal*, 50(01), p.145.
- Houlbrook, M. and Waters, C., 2006. The Heart in Exile: Detachment and Desire in 1950s London. *History Workshop Journal*, 62(1), pp.142 –165.
- Huq, R., 2006. *Beyond Subculture: Pop, Youth and Identity in a Postcolonial World,* Abingdon, Oxonl; New York: Routledge.
- Irwin, J., 1977. Scenes, London: Sage.
- Jackson, H.O., 2012. *A Cultural Perspective of Dress* 2nd edition., University Readers.
- Jackson, P., 2004. *Inside Clubbing: Sensual Experiments in the Art of Being Human,* Oxford: Berg.
- Jay, K. ed., 1972. *Out of the closets!! voices of gay liberation*, New York: Douglas Bks.
- Jobling, P., 1999. Fashion Spreads: Word and Image in Fashion Photography Since 1980, Oxford: Berg.
- Jobling, P., 2003. Underexposed: Spectatorship and Pleasure in Men's Underwear Advertising in the Twentieth Century. *Paragraph*, 26(1-2), pp.147–162.
- Jobling, P., 2005. *Man Appeal: Advertising, Modernism and Men's Wear*, Oxford: Berg.
- Joffe, B.H., 2007. *A Hint of Homosexuality?: Gay and Homoerotic Imagery in American Print Advertising*, Philadelphia, Penn.: Xlibris.
- Johnson, E.P. and Henderson, M. eds., 2005. *Black Queer Studies: A Critical Anthology*, Durham, N.C.: Duke University Press.
- Johnson, K.K.P., Torntore, S.J. and Eicher, J. B. eds., 2003. *Fashion Foundations: Early Writings on Fashion and Dress*, Oxford: Berg.

- Johnson, S.A. and Meinhof, U.H. eds., 1997. *Language and Masculinity*, Oxford: Blackwell.
- Johnson, R. et al., 2004. *The Practice of Cultural Studies: A Guide to the Practice and Politics of Cultural Studies*, London: Sage.
- Jordan, M.D., 1999. Making the Homophile Manifest. In H. Radner and M. Luckett, eds. *Swinging Single: Representing Sexuality in the 1960s*. University of Minnesota Press.
- Joyrich, L., 2009. Epistemology of the Console. In G. Davis and G. Needham, eds. *Queer TV: Theories, Histories, Politics*. London: Routledge, pp. 15–47.
- Kaiser, S.B., 2012. Fashion and Cultural Studies, Oxford: Berg.
- Karaminas, V. and Geczy, A., 2013. *Queer Style*, London: Bloomsbury Academic.
- Katz, J., 1992 [1976]. *Gay American History: Lesbians and Gay Men in the U.S.A.l. A Documentary History*, Meridian.
- Kawamura, Y., 2005. *Fashion-Ology: An Introduction to Fashion Studies*, Oxford: Berg.
- Kellner, D., 1997. Critical Theory and Cultural Studies: The Missed Articulation. In J. McGuigan, ed., *Cultural methodologies*. London: Sage, pp. 12–41.
- Kennedy, E. L., 1998. Telling Tales: Oral History and the Construction of Pre-Stonewall Lesbian History. In R. Perks and A. Thomson, eds. *The Oral History Reader*. pp. 344–355.
- Kennedy, E.L. and Davis, M.D., 1993. *Boots of Leather, Slippers of Gold: The History of a Lesbian Community*, London: Routledge.
- Kidwell, C.B. and Steele, V. eds., 1989. *Men and women: dressing the part,* Washington, D.C: Smithsonian Institution Press.
- Kiesling, S., 2007. Men, Masculinities, and Language. *Language and Linguistics Compass*, 1(6), pp.653–673.
- König, R., 1973. *The Restless Image: A Sociology of Fashion*, London: Allen and Unwin.
- Küchler, S. and Miller, D. eds., 2005. *Clothing as Material Culture*, Oxford: Berg.
- Kuhn, A., 1985. *The Power of the Image: Essays on Representation and Sexuality,* London: Routledge.
- Lattuca, L., 2003. Creating Interdisciplinarity: Grounded Definitions from College and University Faculty. *History of Intellectual Culture*, 3(1), pp.1–20.

- Lee, H., 2005. Body Parts: Essays on Life-writing, London: Chatto and Windus.
- Lee, H., 2009. *Biographyl: A Very Short Introduction*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Lévi-Strauss, C., 1972. *The Savage Mind*, London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson.
- Levine, M.P., 1998. *Gay Macho: The Life and Death of the Homosexual Clone*, New York: New York University Press.
- Lewis, V.D., 1996. *Blackness and Its Relationship to Fashion*, Banff: ITAA Reflections.
- Lewis, V.D., 2003. Dilemmas in African Diaspora Fashion. *Fashion Theory: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture*, 7(2), pp.163–190.
- Lipsitz, G., 1990. Listening to Learn and Learning to Listen: Popular Culture, Cultural Theory and American Studies. *American Quarterly*, 42(4), pp.615–636.
- Littler, J. and Naidoo, R. eds., 2005. *The Politics of Heritage: The Legacies of "race"*, London: Routledge.
- Loftin, C.M., 2007. Unacceptable Mannerisms: Gender Anxieties, Homosexual Activism, and Swish in The United States, 1945–1965. *Journal of Social History*, (spring).
- Lomas, C., 2000. "I Know Nothing About Fashion. There's No Point in Interviewing Me!" The Use and Value of Oral History to the Fashion Historian. In S. Bruzzi and Church Gibson, Pamela, eds. *Fashion Cultures; Theories, Explorations and Analysis*. London and New York: Routledge, pp. 363–370.
- Lomas, C., 2007. "Men Don"t Wear Velvet You Know!' Fashionable Gay

  Masculinity and the Shopping Experience, London, 1950-Early 1970s. *Oral History*, pp.82–90.
- Longhurst, B. et al., 2008. *Introducing Cultural Studies*, Pearson Education.
- López-Gydosh, D. and Hancock, J., 2009. American Men and Identity:

  Contemporary African-American and Latino Style. *The Journal of American Culture*, 32(1), pp.16–28.
- Maffesoli, M., 1996. *The Time of the Tribes: The Decline of Individualism in Mass Society*, London: Sage.

- Mains, G., 2002. *Urban Aboriginals* 20th Anniversary edition., Cambridge: Daedalus Publishing.
- Martin, R., 1995. "Feel Like a Million!": The Propitious Epoch in Men's Underwear Imagery, 1939 –1952. *Journal of American Culture*, 18(4), pp.51–58.
- Martin, R., 1992. Fundamental Icon: J.C.Leyendecker's Male Underwear Imagery. *Textile and Text*, 15(1), pp.19–32.
- Mason, Liz, 2005. Exhibition Review Black British Style. *Art, Design and Communication in Higher Education*, 4(1), pp.73–76.
- McBride, D., 2005. Why I Hate Abercrombie and Fitch: Essays on Race and Sexuality, New York: NYU Press.
- McCabe, C., 2007. Interview with Stuart Hall. *Critical Quarterly*, 50(1-2), pp.12–42.
- McCourt, J., 2005. *Queer Street: Rise and Fall of an American Culture, 1947-1985,* New York, London: W. W. Norton.
- McCracken, G.D., 1997. *Big hair: a journey into the transformation of self*, London: Indigo.
- McGuigan, J. ed., 1997. Cultural Methodologies, London: Sage.
- McKee, A., 2003. Textual Analysis: A Beginner's Guide, London: Sage.
- McNeil, P., 2010. Conference Report: "The Future of Fashion Studies". *Fashion Theory: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture*, 14(1), pp.105–110.
- McNeil, P., 2004. "Don We Now Our Gay Apparel": Gay Men's Dress in the Twentieth Century by Shaun Cole. *Fashion Theory: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture*, 8(1), pp.105–108.
- McNeil, P., 2008. "We're Not in the Fashion Business": Fashion in the Museum and the Academy. *Fashion Theory: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture*, 12(1), pp.65–82.
- McNeil, P. ed., 2009. Fashion: Critical and Primary sources, Oxford: Berg.
- McNeil, P. and Karaminas, V. eds., 2009. The Men's Fashion Reader, Oxford: Berg.
- McNeil, P., Karaminas, V. and Cole, C. eds., 2009. *Fashion in Fiction: Text and Clothing in Literature, Film and Television*, New York: Berg.
- McNeil, P. and Wallenberg, L. eds., 2012. *Nordic Fashion Studies*, Stockholm: Axl Books.

- McRobbie, A., 2000. *Feminism and Youth Culture* 2nd ed., Basingstoke: Macmillan.
- McRobbie, A., 1997. The Es and the Anti-Es: New Questions for Feminism and Cultural Studies. In M. Ferguson and P. Golding, eds. *Cultural Studies in Question*. London: SAGE, pp. 170–86.
- McRobbie, A., 2005. The Uses of Cultural Studies: a Textbook, London: Sage.
- Meeker, M., 2001. Behind the Mask of Respectability: Reconsidering the Mattachine Society and Male Homophile Practice, 1950s and 1960s. *Journal of the History of Sexuality*, 10(1), pp.78–116.
- Mercer, K., 1987. Black Hair/Style Politics. New Formations, (33-54).
- Mercer, K., 1994. *Welcome to the Jungle: New Positions in Black Cultural Studies*, New Yorkl; London: Routledge.
- Merck, M., 2004. Afterword. In I. Morland and A. Willox, eds. *Queer Theory*, Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 187–191.
- Metcalf, A. and Humphries, M. eds., 1985. The Sexuality of Men, London: Pluto.
- Meyer, M. ed., 1994. The Politics and Poetics of Camp, London: Routledge.
- Miller, D. ed., 1998. *Material Cultures: Why Some Things Matter*, London: UCL Press.
- Miller, M.L., 2009. *Slaves to Fashion: Black Dandyism and The Styling of Black Diasporic Identity*, Durham, N.C.I; London: Duke University Press.
- Milner, A., 2002. *Contemporary Cultural Theory: An Introduction* 3rd ed., London: Routledge.
- Morland, I. and Willox, A. eds., 2004. *Queer Theory*, Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Mort, F., 1996. *Cultures of Consumption: Masculinities and Social Space in Late Twentieth-Century Britain*, London: Routledge.
- Morton, S., 2007. *Gayatri Spivak: Ethics, Subalternity and the Critique of Postcolonial Reason*, Cambridge: Polity.
- Muggleton, D., 2000. *Inside Subculture: The Postmodern Meaning of Style*, Oxford: Berg.
- Muggleton, D. and Weinzierl, R. eds., 2003. *The Post-Subcultures Reader*, Oxford: Berg.

- Mulvey, L., 2008. *Visual and Other Pleasures* 2nd ed., Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Mulvey, L., 1975. Visual Pleasure and Narrative Cinema. *Screen*, 16(3), pp.6–18.
- Mumford, K.J., 1996. Homosex Changes: Race, Cultural Geography, and the Emergence of the Gay. *American Quarterly*, 48(3), pp.395–414.
- Nealon, C., 2001. *Foundlings: Lesbian and Gay Historical Emotion before Stonewall*, Durham, N.C.: Duke University Press Books.
- Niessen, S. A., 2003. Afterword: Re-Orienting Fashion Theory. In C. Jones, A. M. Leshkowich, and Sandra A Niessen, eds. *Re-orienting Fashion: the Globalization of Asian Dress*, Oxford: Berg.
- Niles, B., 1932. Strange Brother, London: TWerner Laurie Ltd.
- Nixon, S., 2003a. *Advertising Cultures: Gender, Commerce, Creativity*, London: Sage.
- Nixon, S., 2003b. *Hard Looks: Masculinities, Spectatorship and Contemporary Consumption*, London: Routledge.
- Norton, R., 1992. *Mother Clap's Molly House: The Gay Subculture in England* 1700-1830, London: Gay Men's Press.
- O'Neill, A., 2007. London: After a Fashion, London: Reaktion Books.
- Owens, C., 1992. *Beyond Recognition: Representation, Power, and Culture,* Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Padva, G., 2002. Heavenly Monsters: The Politics of the Male Body in the Naked Issue of Attitude Magazine. *International Journal of Sexuality and Gender Studies*, 7(4), pp.281–292.
- Padva, G., 2005. Radical Sissies and Stereotyped Fairies in Laurie Lynd's The Fairy Who Didn't Want to Be a Fairy Anymore. *Cinema Journal*, 45(1), pp.66–78.
- Palmer, A., 1997. New Directions: Fashion History Studies and Research in North America and England. *Fashion Theory*, 1(3), pp.297–312.
- Papacharissi, Z. and Fernback, J., 2008. The Aesthetic Power of the Fab 5

  Discursive Themes of Homonormativity in Queer Eye for the Straight Guy. *Journal of Communication Inquiry*, 32(4), pp.348–367.
- Payne, L., 1995. Crisis in Masculinity, Grand Rapids, MI: Baker Books.

- Peele, T. ed., 2007. *Queer Popular Culture Literature, Media, Film, and Television*, New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Perchuk, A. and Posner, H. eds., 1995. *The Masculine Masquerade: Masculinity and Representation*, Cambridge, Mass: MIT Press.
- Perks, R. and Thomson, A. eds., 2006. *The Oral History Reader* 2nd ed., London: Routledge.
- Peter France, P. and St. Clair, W., 2002. *Mapping Lives!* The Uses of Biography, Oxford: Oxford University Press for the British Academy.
- Phelan, S., 1997. *Playing with Fire: Queer Politics, Queer Theories*, New York: Routledge.
- Philip, M., 2005. Homothugs: Hip-Hop's Secret Homo Underside. *The Guide*, (March). Available at: http://www.guidemag.com.
- Picano, F., 1979. *The Lure*, New York: Delacorte Press.
- Pickering, M. ed., 2008. *Research Methods for Cultural Studies*, Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Plummer, Kenneth ed., 1981. *The Making of the Modern Homosexual*, London: Hutchinson.
- Polhemus, T., 1994. *Streetstyle: From Sidewalk to Catwalk*, London: Thames and Hudson.
- Polhemus, T. and Procter, L. eds., 1978. *Fashion and Anti-Fashion: An Anthropology of Clothing and Adornment*, London: Thames and Hudson.
- Queen, C. and Schimel, L. eds., 1997. *PoMoSexuals: Challenging Assumptions About Gender and Sexuality*, San Francisco, Calif: Cleis Press.
- Redhead, S., 1997a. *Subculture to Clubcultures: An Introduction to Popular Cultural Studies*, Oxford: Blackwell.
- Redhead, S. ed., 1997b. *The Clubcultures Reader: Readings in Popular Cultural Studies*, Cambridge, Mass: Blackwell Publishers.
- Reed, C., 2005. We're From Oz: Marking Ethnic and Sexual Identity. In K. Reudi and C. Waldheim, eds. *Chicago Architecture: Histories, Revisions, Alternatives*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Reid-Pharr, R.F. and Delany, S.R., 2001. *Black Gay Man: Essays*, New York: NYU Press.
- Reilly, A.H. and Cosbey, S. eds., 2008. Men's Fashion Reader, New York: Fairchild.

- Reisz, M., 2012. Intellectual Capital. *Times Higher Education*, pp.44–45.
- Ribeiro, A., 2005. *Fashion and Fiction: Dress in Art and Literature in Stuart England*, New HavenI; London: published for the Paul Mellon Centre for Studies in British Art by Yale University Press.
- Ribeiro, A., 1998. Re-Fashioning Art: Some Visual Approaches to the Study of History of Dress. *Fashion Theory: Volume 2, Issue 4: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture: Special Issue on Methodology*, 2(4), pp.315–325.
- Ricoeur, P., 1981. *Hermeneutics and the Human Sciences: Essays on Language, Action and Interpretation*, Cambridge University Press.
- Riello, G. and McNeil, P. eds., 2010. *The Fashion History Reader: Global Perspectives*, London: Routledge.
- Roach-Higgins, Mary E. and Eicher, Joanne B., 1992. Dress and Identity. *Clothing and Textile Research Journal*, 10(4), pp.1–10.
- Roach-Higgins, Mary Ellen, Eicher, Joanne Bubolz and Johnson, K.K.P. eds., 1995. *Dress and identity*, New York: Fairchild Publications.
- Rodriguez, R.T., 2006. Queering. *Aztlán: A Journal of Chicano Studies*, 31(2), pp.127–137.
- Ross, F., 2010. Leveraging Niche Fashion Markets through Mass Customization, Co-design, Style Advice, and New Technology: A Study of Gay Aesthetics and Website Design. *Fashion Practice The Journal of Design Creative Process and the Fashion Industry*, 2(2), pp.175–198.
- Ryan, M., 2010. *Cultural Studies: A Practical Introduction*, Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Salen, J., 2012. Book Review. Shaun Cole The Story of Men's Underwear. *Costume*, 46(2), p.254.
- Sanders, J., ed., 1996. *Stud: Architectures of Masculinity* 2nd ed., Princeton Architectural Press.
- Schofield, K. and Schmidt, R.Ä., 2005. Fashion and Clothing: The Construction and Communication of Gay Identities. *International Journal of Retail and Distribution Management*, 33(4), pp.310–323.
- Schuckmann, P., 1988. Masculinity, the Male Spectator and the Homererotic Gaze. *Amerikastudien / American Studies*, 43(4), pp.671–680.
- Sedgwick, E.K., 1994. Tendencies, London: Routledge.

- Seidler, V.J., 1989. *Rediscovering Masculinity: Reason, Language and Sexuality,* London: Routledge.
- Sender, K., 2001. Gay Readers, Consumers and a Dominant Gay Habitus: 25 years of the Advocate magazine. *Journal of Communication*, (March).
- Signorile, M., 1994. *Queer in America: Sex, the Media, and the Closets of Power,* London: Abacus.
- Signorile, M., 1998. *Life Outside The Signorile Report on Gay Men: Sex, Drugs, Muscles, and the Passages of Life*, Harper Perennial.
- Simmel, G., 1957. Fashion. *The American Journal of Sociology*, 62(6), pp.541–558.
- Simpson, M., 1994a. Here Come the Mirror Men. *The Independent*. Available at: http://www.marksimpson.com/here-come-the-mirror-men [Accessed January 23, 2012]
- Simpson, M., 1994b. *Male Impersonators: Men Performing Masculinity*, London: Cassell.
- Simpson, M., 2002. Meet the Metrosexual. *Salon*. Available at: http://www.salon.com/2002/07/22/metrosexual/ [Accessed January 23, 2012].
- Sinfield, A., 1998. Gay and After, London: Serpent's Tail.
- Sinfield, A., 1994. *The Wilde Century: Effeminacy, Oscar Wilde and the Queer Moment*, London: Cassell.
- Spargo, T., 1999. Foucault and Queer Theory, Trumpington: Icon.
- Spivak, G., 1993. Can the Subaltern Speak? In W. Williams and L. Chisman, eds. *Colonial Discourse and Post-Colonial Theory*. London: Harvester Wheatshef.
- Steele, V., 1998. A Museum of Fashion is More Than a Clothes-Bag. *Fashion Theory: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture*, 2(4), pp.327–335.
- Steele, V. ed., 2005. *Encyclopedia of Clothing and Fashion*, New York: Scribner/Thomson.
- Steele, V., 1996. Fetish: Fashion, Sex and Power, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Stein, A. and Plummer, K., 1994. "I Can't Even Think Straight" "Queer" Theory and the Missing Sexual Revolution in Sociology. *Sociological Theory*, 12(2), pp.178–187.
- Stryker, S., 2001. *Queer Pulp: Perverted Passions from the Golden Age of the Paperback*, San Francisco, Calif: Chronicle.

- Styles, J., 1998. Dress in History: Reflections on a Contested Terrain. *Fashion Theory: Volume 2, Issue 4: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture: Special Issue on Methodology*, 2(4), pp.383–389.
- Sullivan, N., 2003. *A Critical Introduction to Queer Theory*, Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Suresha, R.J., 2002. Bears on Bears, New York: Alyson Publications Inc.
- Suthrell, C.A., 2004. *Unzipping Gender: Sex, Cross-Dressing and Culture*, Oxford: Berg.
- Sycamore, M.B. ed., 2008. *That's Revolting!: Queer Strategies for Resisting Assimilation*, Brooklyn: Soft Skull Press.
- Taylor, L., 1998. Doing the Laundry?: A Reassessment of Object-based Dress History. *Fashion Theory: Volume 2, Issue 4: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture: Special Issue on Methodology*, 2(4), pp.337–358.
- Taylor, L., 2002. *The Study of Dress History*, Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Taylor, L., 2004. *Establishing Dress History*, Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Taylor, L., 2005. Review. *Costume: The Journal of the Costume Society*, pp.136–7.
- Thornton, S., 1995. *Club Cultures: Music, Media and Subcultural Capital,* Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Tseëlon, E., 2001. Fashion Research and its Discontents. *Fashion Theory: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture*, 5(4), pp.435–451.
- Tseëlon, E., 2010. Outlining a Fashion Studies Project. *Critical Studies in Fashion and Beauty*, 1(1), pp.3–53.
- Tulloch, C., 1998. "Out of Many, One People": The Relativity of Dress, Race and Ethnicity to Jamaica, 1880-1907. Fashion Theory: Volume 2, Issue 4: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture: Special Issue on Methodology, 2(4), pp.359–382.
- Tulloch, C. ed., 2004. Black Style, London: V&A.
- Tulloch, C., 2010. Style-Fashion-Dress: From Black to Post-Black. *Fashion Theory: The Journal of Dress, Body and Culture*, 14(3), pp.273–304.
- Turner, G., 1990. *British Cultural Studies: An Introduction*, Boston, Mass.l; London: Unwin Hyman.

- Turner, G., 1993. *Nation, Culture, Text: Australian Cultural and Media Studies,* Routledge.
- Turner, G., 1996. *British Cultural Studies: An Introduction* 2nd ed., London: Routledge.
- Turner, G., 2011. What's Become of Cultural Studies?, London: SAGE.
- Turner, M.W., 2003. *Backward Glances: Cruising the Queer Streets of New York and London*, London: Reaktion.
- Vinken, B., 2005. *Fashion Zeitgeist: Trends and Cycles in the Fashion System,* Oxford: Berg.
- Waites, M., 2010. Jeffrey Weeks and the History of Sexuality. *History Workshop Journal*, 69(1), pp.258 –266.
- Wald, G., 2000. *Crossing the Line: Racial Passing in Twentieth-Century U.S. Literature and Culture*, Durham, N.C.: Duke University Press.
- Waldrep, S., 2004. *The Aesthetics of Self-Invention: Oscar Wilde to David Bowie,* Minneapolis, Minn: University of Minnesota Press.
- Walsh, F., 2010. *Male Trouble: Masculinity and the Performance of Crisis,*Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Warren, C.A. and Vavrus, M.D. eds., 2001. *American Cultural Studies*, Champaign, IL: University of Illinois Press.
- Weeks, J., 1991a. *Against Nature: Essays on History, Sexuality and Identity*, London: Rivers Oram.
- Weeks, J., 1977. *Coming Out: Homosexual Politics in Britain from the Nineteenth Century to the Present*, London: Quartet Books.
- Weeks, J., 1991b. Inverts, Perverts, and Mary-Annes: Male Prostitution and the Regulation of Homosexuality in England in the Ninetenth and Early Twentieth Centuries. In M. B. Duberman, M. Vicinus, and G. Chauncey, eds. *Hidden from History: Reclaiming the Gay and Lesbian Past*. London: Penguin, pp. 195–211.
- Weeks, J., 1985. *Sexuality and Its Discontents: Meaning, Myths and Modern Sexualities*, London: Routledge.
- Welters, L. and Lillethun, A. eds., 2007. The Fashion Reader, New York: Berg.
- Welters, L. and Lillethun, A. eds., 2011. The Fashion Reader 2nd ed., Oxford: Berg.

- Whisnant, C.J., 2006. Styles of Masculinity in the West German Gay Scene, 1950–1965. *Central European History*, 39(3), pp.359–393.
- Willis, P., 2003. Foreword. In C. Barker, ed., *Cultural Studies: Theory and Practice*. London: Sage, pp. xix–xxiii.
- Wilson, E., 1985. Adorned in Dreams: Fashion and Modernity, London: Virago.
- Wilson, E., 2001. Looking Good. *History Workshop: A Journal of Socialist Historians*, (52), pp.280–282.
- Wlodarz, J., 2004. Beyond the Black Macho: Queer Blaxploitation. *The Velvet Light Trap*, (53), pp.10–25.
- Woodward, S., 2002. Making Fashion Material. *Journal of Material Culture*, 7(3), pp.345–353.
- Wright, K., 2001. The Great Down-low Debate. *Village Voice*, pp.6–12.
- Wright, L.K. ed., 1997. *The Bear Book: Readings in the History and Evolution of a Gay Male Subculture*, New York: Harrington Park Press.
- Wulff, H., 1988. *Twenty Girls: Growing Up, Ethnicity, and Excitement in a South London Microculture*, Stockholm: Dept. of Social Anthropology, University of Stockholm.

# **APPENDICES**

## Appendix A: Citations of Don We Now Our Gay Apparel

Edwards T., 2003. Sex, Booze and Fags: masculinity, style and men's magazines. In B. Benwell, *Masculinity and Men's Lifestyle Magazines* Oxford: Blackwell (referenced on p.142)

Graham M., 2007. Gay Masculinities. In Michael Flood, Judith Kegan Gardiner, Bob Pease and Keith Pringle (eds) *International Encyclopedia of Men and Masculinities* (pp. 230-1 in relation to clones)

Gray, S., 2008. "I'm Here Girlfriend What's New?" Art, Dress, and the Queer Performative Subject: The Case of David McDiarmid. *Fashion Theory* Volume 12, issue 3, pp 293-312 (p.297 in relation to clones)

Hall, M. and Gough, B., 2011. Magazine and reader constructions of 'metrosexuality' and masculinity: a membership categorization analysis. *Journal of Gender Studies*, 20:01, pp. 67-86 (referenced on p69)

Hancock, J. H. III, 2009. Chelsea on 5th Avenue: Hypermasculinity and Gay Clone Culture in the Retail Brand Practices of Abercrombie & Fitch. *Fashion Practice The Journal of Design Creative Process & the Fashion Industry*, Volume 1, Number 1, May, pp. 63-86 (on clones and hyper-masculinity)

Houlbrook, M. 2005., *Queer London: Perils and Pleasures in the Sexual Metropolis,* 1918-1957, Chicago: University of Chicago Press (notes on p313 and 326)

Lees-Maffei, G. and Houze, R., 2010. *The Design History Reader*, Oxford: Berg (discussed in guide further reading for 'Gender and Design' section on p.382)

Lomas, C., 2007. "Men Don"t Wear Velvet You Know!' Fashionable Gay Masculinity and the Shopping Experience, London, 1950-Early 1970s. *Oral History*, pp.82–90 (p.85 note 23 in relation to gay shopping)

McNeill, P. and Karaminas, V., eds. 2009 *The Men's Fashion Reader*, Oxford: Berg (p.401 recommended reading)

Ronzon, F., 2009 .Icons and Transvestites: Irony, Cognition, Visual Skill. In Grasseni, C. ed., *Skilled Visions: Between Apprenticeship and Standards*, Oxford and New York: Berghahn Books (p.72 in relation to drag queens)

Ross, F., 2010. Leveraging Niche Fashion Markets through Mass Customization, Co-design, Style Advice, and New Technology: A Study of Gay Aesthetics and Website Design. *Fashion Practice*, Volume 2, Issue 2: pp.175-198 (p.181 definitions of gay 'tribes' derived from *Don We Now Our Gay Apparel*)

Schofield, K. and Schmidt, R. A., 2005. Fashion and Clothing: The Construction and Communication of Gay Identities. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution* 33 (4), pp.310-23 (definitions of gay 'tribes' derived from *Don We Now Our Gay Apparel*)

Scott, W. R., 2000. California Casual: Lifestyle Marketing and Men's leisure Wear, 1930 -1960' in McNeill, P. and Karaminas, V. eds. *The Men's Fashion Reader* Oxford: Berg (note 76 on pp.161-167 in relation to the metrosexual)

Sender, K. 2006., Queens for a Day: Queer Eye for the Straight Guy and the Neoliberal Project. *Critical Studies in Media Communication*, Volume 23, Issue 2 June, pp.131 – 151

Steorn, P., 2012. Life-Style and Politics of Fashion and Gender in 1960s Sweden. Unisex Fashion in Theory and Practice. In Spillman, K, Reilly, A. and Hunt-Hurst, P. eds. *The Meanings of Dress* 3<sup>rd</sup> Edition, New York: Fairchild, pp. 195-200 (referenced on page 198)

Snaith, G., 2003. Tom's Men: The Masculinization of Homosexuality and the Homosexulization of Masculinity at the end of the Twentieth Century. *Paragraph* Volume 26, numbers 1 and 2, pp.77-88 (quotes from 'macho man' chapter of *Don We Now* to articulate how Tom of Finland's iconic masculinised drawn figures related to the actual hyper-masculine appearance of gay men in 1970s and 1980s on pages 79, 81 and 86)

Taylor, L., 2004. *Establishing Dress History* Manchester: Manchester University Press (p.282 - in relation to lack of lesbian and gay exhibitions. See also note 16)

Travers, S. D., (2011) 'Contested Kicks: Sneakers and Gay Masculinity, 1964-2007' *Communication and Critical/Cultural Studies* Volume 8, Issue 2, pp.146-164 (p151 in relation to effeminacy)

# Citations of <u>"</u>Macho Man": Clones and the Development of a Masculine Stereotype in *Fashion Theory*

Gray, S., 2008. 'I'm Here Girlfriend What's New?' Art, Dress, and the Queer Performative Subject: The Case of David McDiarmid. *Fashion Theory* Volume 12, issue 3, pp.293-312 (referenced on p.297)

Llewelyn, N., 2008. *Appearance and Identity: Fashioning the Body in Postmodernity*. New York and London: Palgrave Macmillan (discussed on pp.110-111)

## Appendix B: Email from Valerie Steele

#### Queer Style exhibition at MFIT & book

VALERIE STEELE [VALERIE\_STEELE@exchange.fitnyc.edu]

You forwarded this message on 08/03/2012 11:48.

Sent: 22 February 2012 20:18

To: Shaun Cole

FRED DENNIS [FRED\_DENNIS@exchange.fitnyc.edu]; VANESSA VASQUEZ [VANESSA\_VASQUEZ@exchange.fitnyc.edu]; TANYA MELENDEZ [TANYA\_MELENDEZ@exchange.fitnyc.edu]; PATRICIA MEARS [PATRICIA\_MEARS@exchange.fitnyc.edu] Cc:

Attachments: Queer Style proposal1.docx (13 KB) [Open as Web Page]

Dear Shaun,

Fred Dennis and I are co-curating an exhibition, Queer Style, which will open at The Museum at FIT in September 2013. See attached for a brief description.

We are also co-editing a book to accompany the exhibition, and wonder if you would be willing and able to contribute an essay? Sadly, we don't anticipate being able to pay for the essay - or no more than \$500 -... But we'd hope to pay speakers a \$500 honorarium plus flight and hotel to come and talk at our 2013 symposium in NYC.

Since your books - Don We Now Our Gay Apparel and the Underwear book - are so important, we'd be honored to have you contribute tour book, Queer Style. We'd need text by January 2013.

Looking forward to hearing from you soon.

best,

Valerie

Director and Chief Curator The Museum at FIT 212 217 4533

http://www.fitnyc.edu/museum